# **COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT**

2008-2009 2009-2010 2010-2011 2011-2012

BETWEEN:

**Huron - Superior Catholic District School Board** 

(hereinafter called the "Board")

- AND -

The Ontario English Catholic Teachers' Association

[hereinafter called the Branch Affiliate]

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

No

Item

PRE	AMLE	1
1.00	DEFINITIONS	1
2.00	RECOGNITION	2
3.00	DEFINITION OF CATEGORIES	2
4.00	EXPERIENCE	3
5.00	ALLOWANCES	4
	5.01 Co-ordinators	4
	5.02 Consultants	5
	5.03 Secondary Lead Teachers	5
	5.04 Related Experience	5
	5.05 Transportation Allowance	5
6.00	INSURANCE PLANS	6
7.00	GRIEVANCES/ARBITRATION	8
	7.01 Definitions - Teacher Grievance	8
	7.02 Definitions - Unit Executive Grievance	8
	7.03 Definitions - Direct Grievances and Group Grievances	8
	7.04 Procedure	
	Step One       9         Step Two       9         Step Three       9         Step Four       9	
	7.05 Arbitration of Disputes	10
	7.08 Expedited Arbitration (O.L.R.A.)	11
	7.09 Mediation-Arbitration(O.L.R.A.)	12
	7.10 Adherence to Timelines	12
8.00	LEAVES	12
	8.01 Attendance at Examinations and Graduation Exercises	12
	8.02 Bereavement Leave	12
	8.03 Personal Leave	13
	8.04 Compassionate Leave	14
	8.05 Cumulative Sick Leave Plan	14
	8.07 Leave of Absence	15

	8.08 Paternity Leave	.16
	8.09 Pregnancy/ Parental and Adoptive Leave	.16
	8.10 Sabbatical Leave	.17
	8.11 Teacher Self-Funded Deferred Salary Leave Plan	.20
	8.12 Court Appearance	.24
	8.13 Witness or Jury Duty Fees	.24
	8.14 Quarantine	.24
	8.15 Emergency Leave	.24
	8.16 Family Medical Care Leave	.24
9.00	MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	.25
10.00	WORKPLACE SAFETY & INSURANCE BOARD	.25
11.00	WORKING CONDITIONS	.25
	11.01 Elementary Teachers	.25
	11.02 Secondary Teachers	.27
	11.03 Organizational Units / Lead Teachers	.27
	11.04 Teacher In Charge	.28
	11.05 Personnel Files	.29
	11.06 Administration of Medication to Students	.29
	11.07 Lunch Break	.29
12.00	TRANSFERS	.29
	12.01 Board-Initiated Transfers (Surplus)	.29
	12.02 Board-Initiated Transfers	.30
	12.03 Teacher-Initiated Transfers	.30
	12.04 Vacancies/Postings	.31
13.00	SHARED POSITIONS	.31
14.00	SPECIAL CONDITIONS FOR SCHOOL CLOSURE	.33
15.00	SENIORITY/REDUNDANCY	.34
	15.01 Method of Determination of Seniority	.34
	15.02 Special Programs and Subjects	.34
	15.03 Recall	.35
	15.04 Seniority List	.35
16.00	MEETING WITH OFFICIALS	.36
17.00	JUST CAUSE	.36

18.00 RELEASE TIME	36
19.00 CONTINUING EDUCATION	37
20.00 GRID	38
21.00 PRINTING OF AGREEMENT	40
22.00 TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT	40
23.00 RENEWAL OF AGREEMENT	40
24.00 JOINT STAFFING COMMITTEE	40
25.00 TEACHER PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL AND NEW	
TEACHER INDUCTION	41
26.00 JOINT PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE	42
27.00 SIGNATURES	43
MEMORANDUM	44
Addendum # 1	45
Addendum # 2	46
Addendum # 3	47
Addendum # 4	48
Appendix # 1	49
Addendum # 5	60
Addendum # 6	61
Addendum # 7	62
Addendum # 8	63
Addendum # 9	64
Addendum #10	65
Addendum #11	66

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Item	Page No.	Item
Addendum # 1	45	
Addendum # 2	46	
Addendum # 3	47	
Addendum # 4	48	
Addendum # 5	60	
Addendum # 6	61	
Addendum # 7	62	
Addendum # 8	63	
Addendum # 9	64	
Addendum #10	65	
Addendum #11	66	
Adherence to Timelines	12	7.10
Administration of Medication to Students	29	11.06
ALLOWANCES	4	5.00
Arbitration of Disputes	10	7.05
Appendix # 1	49	
Attendance at Examinations and Graduation Exercises	12	8.01
Bereavement Leave	12	8.02
Board-Initiated Transfers	30	12.02
Board-Initiated Transfers (Surplus)	29	12.01
Compassionate Leave	14	8.04
Consultants	5	5.02
CONTINUING EDUCATION	37	19.00
Co-ordinators	4	5.01
Court Appearance	24	8.12
Cumulative Sick Leave Plan	14	8.05
DEFINITIONS	1	1.00
DEFINITION OF CATEGORIES	2	3.00
<b>Definitions - Direct Grievances and Group Grievances</b>	8	7.03
Definitions - Teacher Grievance	8	7.01
Definitions - Unit Executive Grievance	8	7.02

Emergency Leave2	24 8.15
Expedited Arbitration (O.L.R.A.)	7.08
EXPERIENCE	.3 4.00
Family Medical Care Leave2	8.16
GRID	38 20.00
GRIEVANCES/ARBITRATION	.8 7.00
Procedure	
Step One	
Step Two	
Step ThreeStep Four	
INSURANCE PLANS	.6 6.00
JOINT PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE4	
JOINT STAFFING COMMITTEE	
JUST CAUSE	
LEAVES1	
Leave of Absence	
Lunch Break	29 11.07
MANAGEMENT RIGHTS2	25 9.00
Mediation-Arbitration(O.L.R.A.)1	7.09
MEETING WITH OFFICIALS3	36 16.00
MEMORANDUM4	14
Method of Determination of Seniority3	<b>15.0</b> 1
Organizational Units/Lead Teachers2	27 11.03
Paternity Leave1	8.08
Personal Leave1	8.03
Personnel Files2	29 11.05
PREAMBLE	.1
Pregnancy/ Parental and Adoptive Leave1	8.09
PRINTING OF AGREEMENT4	40 21.00
Quarantine2	24 8.14
Recall3	35 15.03
RECOGNITION	.2 2.00

Related Experience	5	5.04
RELEASE TIME	36	18.00
RENEWAL OF AGREEMENT	40	23.00
Sabbatical Leave	17	8.10
Secondary Lead Teachers	5	5.03
Seniority List	35	15.04
SENIORITY/REDUNDANCY	34	15.00
SHARED POSITIONS	31	13.00
SIGNATURES	43	27.00
SPECIAL CONDITIONS FOR SCHOOL CLOSURE	33	14.00
Special Programs and Subjects	34	15.02
Teacher in Charge	28	11.04
Teacher-Initiated Transfers	30	12.03
TEACHER PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL AND NEW TEACHER INDUCTION	41	25.00
Teacher Self-Funded Deferred Salary Leave Plan	20	8.11
TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT	40	22.00
TRANSFERS	29	12.00
Transportation Allowance	5	5.05
Vacancies/Postings	31	12.04
Witness or Jury Duty Fees	24	8.13
WORKING CONDITIONS		11.00
Elementary Teachers Secondary Teachers		11.01 11.02
WORKPLACE SAFETY & INSURANCE BOARD	25	10.00

The Huron-Superior Catholic District School Board and the Huron-Superior OECTA Bargaining Unit are committed to improve student achievement, reduce gaps in student outcomes and increase confidence in publicly funded education.

#### **Item 1.00 DEFINITIONS**

- (i) "Teacher" shall mean any employee of the Board who is
  - (a) a teacher as defined by section (1) of the *Education Act*, and who is employed as a teacher as defined by section 1(1) of the *Education Act*, in the secondary or elementary panel of the Board but excluding occasional teachers as defined by section 1(1.1) of the *Education Act*, and
  - (b) who is a teacher as defined by Part X.1 of the *Education Act*.
- (ii) Continuing Education Teacher means a Teacher who is a continuing education teacher as defined by the *Education Act*.
- (iii) Temporary Teacher means a person employed to teach under the authority of a letter of permission.
- (iv) Part-time Teacher means a Teacher who is employed during a school year on a regular basis for other than full time duty.
  - (a) A "half-time" Teacher is deemed to work a minimum of four (4) hours per day for E.I. purposes.
- (v) A "new teacher" shall mean a teacher who is employed as a teacher during the 24-month period that follows the day on which the teacher first begins to teach for a board, other than as an occasional teacher.
- (vi) The Board means the Huron-Superior Catholic District School Board.
- (vii) Director means the Director of Education as defined by the *Education Act*.
- (viii) Association means the Ontario English Catholic Teachers' Association.
- (ix) Negotiating Committee of the Teachers means the negotiating committee of the Association.
- (x) Reference in this Agreement to the *Education Act*, the *Labour Relations Act* and the *Employment Standards Act* shall in all instances be deemed to include "and amendments thereto".
- (xi) Parties to this Agreement means the Association and the Board.

- 2.01 The Board recognizes the Association as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent authorized to represent all Teachers employed by the Huron-Superior Catholic District School Board.
- 2.02 (a) The Board recognizes the Negotiating Committee of the Association as the committee empowered to negotiate a collective agreement on behalf of all Teachers employed by the Board and the Association undertakes that the Negotiating Committee of the Association is so authorized.
  - (b) The Association recognizes the Negotiating Committee of the Board as the committee empowered to negotiate a collective agreement on behalf of the Board and the Board undertakes that the Negotiating Committee of the Board is so authorized.
- 2.03 There shall be no strike or lock-out during the term of this agreement.
- 2.04 (a) The Board recognizes the appointment or election by the teachers of up to two (2) Association representatives at the secondary schools and one (1) Association representative at the elementary schools or other work sites.
  - (b) The Association shall forward such a list of Association representatives to the Director/designate by September 30 of each year.
  - (c) The Board will provide space on the existing bulletin boards in every work site. Where no bulletin board exists the Board shall ensure that one is provided within a reasonable period of time.

The Association will have access to the use of the internal courier service. All material must be approved by the Director or designate prior to distribution.

The Association shall have access to the use of the internal e-mail of the Board. It is agreed that the e-mail will be used for the purpose of sharing information and will not be used for communications that may negatively impact the Board.

(d) The Board shall release Association Representatives for up to one (1) day per school year for Association training. The cost for occasional teacher replacement shall be paid by the Association.

#### **Item 3.00 DEFINITION OF CATEGORIES**

3.01 (a) Q.E.C.O. Qualifications -

Level D	Category 1
Level C	Category 2
Level B	Category 3
Level A1	Category 4
Level A2	Category 5
Level A3	Category 6
Level A4	Category 7

(b) Teachers who are presently at Category D, C or B in accordance with the Q.E.C.O.

Teachers' Qualifications Evaluation Program 3 shall be deemed to be at Category A achieved through the completion of Pay Equity on January 1, 1992. Category A will become part of the Teachers' Salary Grid and Categories D, C and B will remain categories but will be removed from the Teachers' Salary Grid. However, to advance to A1, A2, A3 and A4, Q.E.C.O. qualifications must be submitted.

- 3.02 (a) Placement of Teachers shall be determined in accordance with the Q.E.C.O. Teachers' Qualifications Evaluation Program 5 (hereinafter called Program 5).
  - (b) Teachers presenting a Q.E.C.O. placement statement shall at the same time present to the Board a copy of all documentation sent to Q.E.C.O. to obtain the placement statement. Once the statement and the documentation are presented the necessary changes to a Teacher's placement on the grid will be made.
- 3.03 Nothing in the terms of this agreement shall permit the Board to reduce the category placement of any Teacher covered by this agreement. However, the Board may request a Teacher to have Q.E.C.O. re-evaluate the Teacher's qualifications when the Board has reasonable doubt as to the validity of the present evaluation. If the re-evaluation causes the Teacher to be given a different category placement, the new category placement shall be implemented retroactive to the date of the request for re-evaluation.
- 3.04 The salary paid to a teacher shall be based on courses passed and qualifications thereby obtained.
  - (a) Where the courses required for improved qualifications are completed after January 1st and before September 1st and evidence of such improved qualifications is presented to the Board office by the following December 31st, the increased salary shall become effective September 1st. Payments made for such category changes received after September 1st shall be paid retroactive to that date.
  - (b) Where the courses required for improved qualifications are completed after August 31st and before December 31st, the increased salary rate shall become effective January 1st, once evidence of such improved qualifications is presented. Evidence must be presented by April 30th.
  - (c) It is the responsibility of the Teacher to notify the Board in writing with documented evidence to obtain category change. This should be done immediately upon receipt of such evidence.

#### **Item 4.00 EXPERIENCE**

- 4.01 (a) When Teachers are hired, they shall be credited only with qualified experience, whether they taught in Ontario, or elsewhere.
  - (b) It shall be the responsibility of the Teachers to furnish, to the Board, signed statements from previous employers of all teaching experience outside the Board.
  - (c) Existing experience that had been recognized by the Board on or before June 30, 1998 shall be recognized as a Teacher's experience up to that date.

- 4.02 Experience shall be credited as of September 1st annually. No change in salary for experience shall be paid before the following September 1st.
  - (a) No Teacher shall be credited with one year of experience until eight months of teaching have been completed.
  - (b) (i) Credit shall be given to teachers for partial experience based on the following:
    - (ii) A teacher with five, six or seven months' experience shall receive five-tenths, six-tenths, or seven-tenths of an increment respectively.

#### 4.03 **Dues Check-off**

- (a) The Board shall deduct from each Teacher's pay on a semi-monthly basis from September to June, the regular dues of the Ontario English Catholic Teachers' Association. The Association shall advise the Board in writing of the amount of the dues authorized by the Association membership in keeping with the Constitution and By-laws of the Association. The Board shall remit the total amounts so deducted through appropriate channels to the Ontario English Catholic Teachers' Association.
- (b) The Board shall ensure that all documentation relating to the Criminal Records Check/Offence Declaration, as required by legislation, is kept confidential and accessible only to senior administration and the individual Teachers who is the subject of the Criminal Records Check/Offence Declaration. A Teacher may appoint an officer of the Association to access their confidential file with the proper release signed by the Teacher.

#### 4.04 **Levy**

The Board shall deduct from each teacher a local levy as directed by the local Association. This levy shall be paid to the local Association unit.

#### Item 5.00 ALLOWANCES

#### 5.01 Co-ordinators

The annual allowance for Co-ordinators is as follows:

Effective September 1, 2008	-	\$7,221
Effective September 1, 2009	-	\$7,438
Effective September 1, 2010	-	\$7,661
Effective September 1, 2011	-	\$7,891

#### 5.02 Consultants

The annual allowance for Consultants is as follows:

Effective September 1, 2008	-	\$3,610
Effective September 1, 2009	-	\$3,718
Effective September 1, 2010	-	\$3,830
Effective September 1, 2011	-	\$3,945

## 5.03 **Secondary Lead Teachers**

The annual allowance for Lead Teachers is as follows:

Effective September 1, 2008	-	\$3,000
Effective September 1, 2009	-	\$3,090
Effective September 1, 2010	-	\$3,183
Effective September 1, 2011	_	\$3,278

## 5.04 **Related Experience**

## (a) For Teachers hired prior to September 1, 2008:

Approved related experience for technical Teachers teaching in a secondary school will be recognized at the rate of \$500 for each full year of such experience to a maximum of \$4,500. Related experience shall be interpreted as experience which applies directly to the subject to be taught by the Teacher. The Teacher claiming related experience shall be required to furnish proof to the satisfaction of the Board. Related experience allowance shall not pierce the maximum grid salary for the applicable QECO category. Any individual who would be negatively affected by this clause shall have their salary red-circled.

#### (b) For Teachers hired after September 1, 2008:

Approved related experience for technical Teachers teaching in a secondary school will be recognized at the rate of 1 year of teaching experience for every two (2) full year(s) of such experience to a maximum of five (5) years of experience for the purposes of determining placement on the salary grid according to Items 5.00 and 20.00 only. Related experience shall be interpreted as experience which applies directly to the subject to be taught by the Teacher. The Teacher claiming related experience shall be required to furnish proof to the satisfaction of the Board. Related experience allowance shall not pierce the maximum grid salary for the applicable QECO category.

#### 5.05 Transportation Allowance

- (a) All Teachers who are required to travel from school to school or Board Office to school and back as part of their regular duties shall be paid a travel allowance.
- (b) A travel report shall be filed monthly with the Business Department of the Board.

(c) These members shall be paid per kilometre at the rate established by Board policy.

#### **Item 6.00 INSURANCE PLANS**

- 6.01 The Board is not the insurer of benefits. All insured benefits shall be as described in the insurance company's brochures which shall be distributed to all Teachers. All benefits shall be subject to the rules, regulations, descriptions, and limitations as set out in the master contracts held by the Board, copies of which shall be provided to the branch affiliate upon the signing of the current collective agreement. In any dispute, such master contracts shall prove binding on all parties.
- 6.02 (a) The Board shall provide the Teacher with a Life Insurance benefit equal to two times the Teacher's gross basic annual salary.
  - The benefits shall be rounded to the next higher \$1,000.00. The maximum basic Group Life Insurance benefit, which shall be provided to any one Teacher, shall not exceed \$100,000.00. The Board shall contribute 100% of the premium cost.
  - (b) An Accidental Death and Dismemberment benefit in the same amount as described in 6.02(a) shall be provided for Teachers. Such benefits shall be subject to the same underwriting rules and regulations as stipulated in 6.01.
  - (c) In addition to 6.02(a) and (b) above, the Teacher shall also be allowed to purchase at his/her own expense a Voluntary Group Life Insurance benefit and an Accidental Death and Dismemberment benefit up to \$150,000.00.

    The benefit shall also be rounded to the next higher \$1,000.00 and shall be limited to a maximum benefit of \$150,000.00 for any one Teacher.
- 6.03 Teachers shall be provided with an extended health benefit plan and the Board shall contribute 100% of the premium cost.

The Extended Health Care plan shall include the following benefits:

- (i) The difference between ward and private hospital room coverage.
- (ii) Prescription drug benefit subject to a \$1.00 deductible per prescription
- (iii) Optical expense benefits for the insured Teacher and the insured Teacher's dependents subject to a two-hundred (\$200.00) maximum benefit every two years.
  - Hearing aid benefit subject to a five hundred (\$500.00) maximum benefit every five (5) years.
- (iv) A major medical benefit.
- (v) The hospital benefit, optical, and hearing aid benefit, and the major medical benefit are not subject to any deductibles.
- 6.04 The Board shall pay, on behalf of the Teacher, 100% of the premium costs for a dental plan

which reimburses payments for eligible dental services. Dental check-ups will be available every six months. Payments shall be in accordance with the Ontario Dental Association's published schedule of fees for the previous year as such may be amended by the insurer throughout the life of this agreement. The master policy may not be amended without the consent of the Association.

- 6.05 The Board shall provide for orthodontic care for the Teacher and the Teacher's eligible dependents under the aforesaid policy. Such orthodontic care shall entitle the teacher to a 60% reimbursement of total costs incurred by a Teacher and eligible dependents as defined by the insurer to a maximum of two thousand (\$2,000.00) dollars per person for the lifetime of each eligible Teacher or his or her dependent.
- 6.06 (a) Teachers covered by this agreement shall be provided with a Long-Term Disability Benefit Plan providing 75% of monthly earnings after thirteen weeks of disability. The Board shall pay 100% of the required premiums. Where a Teacher may be absent for thirteen weeks for the same continuing disability, the Teacher shall apply for LTD benefits. No illness or injury arising out of and in the course of employment, as defined in the *Workplace Safety and Insurance Act*, and which is, or was at one time, covered by WSIB benefits, shall be the subject of an LTD application.

Teachers who may be absent from duties for a period in excess of thirteen weeks are expected to take responsibility for the completion of forms related to the application to receive LTD benefits.

- (b) Teachers suffering from illness or disability for a long duration and whose accumulated sick leave has expired shall be paid 75% of their weekly earnings to the maximum payable under Employment Insurance per week until they become eligible for LTD benefits under this clause, or until the end of the 15<sup>th</sup> week of illness.
- 6.07 The Board has the authority to tender and to select the carriers with the understanding that the coverage shall not be less than those outlined above.
- 6.08 Notwithstanding any other provisions of this collective agreement, the Board shall not be required to pay any contribution toward premiums as provided by this Article on behalf of a Teacher who is absent from work due to illness or disability after he or she has been receiving LTD benefits for twenty-four (24) months.

Notwithstanding the above, the LTD plan will include as a benefit that the premium for life insurance be waived.

A Teacher for whom the Board is no longer required to contribute toward the premium for benefits as specified above, may continue to participate in said benefits, up to age sixty-five (65), subject to the terms and conditions of the respective carriers of such plans, including continuing eligibility, and provided the Teacher pays to the Board the full cost of the premium or premiums by the 1<sup>st</sup> day of each month, by way of direct/authorized debit. The surviving spouse and/or dependent of a deceased teacher, including a retired teacher, shall be entitled to continue coverage, as the case may be, in the Board's group insurance plans for a period not exceeding the date at which the teacher would have been 65 years of age.

- 6.09 (a) The Board shall provide full payment of premiums for benefits for part-time Teachers who are working a minimum of a "half-time" position or more when the request is made by the Board.
  - (b) The teacher shall pay the premiums for benefits, on a pro-rated basis, when the request for less than full-time status is made by the Teacher.
  - (c) The Board may pay full payment of premiums for benefits for part-time Teachers, when the request for less than full-time status is made by the Teacher due to exceptional circumstances.
  - (d) The Board shall continue to provide full payment of premiums for benefits for any part-time Teachers who are presently working a minimum of a "half-time" position or more and whose full benefits are presently paid by the Board.
- 6.10 It is understood that the above medical, dental and drug benefits shall be in accordance with the master policy and shall not be less than presently provided and outlined above.

#### Item 7.00 GRIEVANCES/ARBITRATION

7.00 It is the mutual desire of the Association and the Board that grievances shall be addressed as quickly as possible.

#### 7.01 **Definitions - Teacher Grievance**

A Teacher Grievance under this Agreement shall be defined as any difference or dispute between the Board or its officials and any Teacher of the Association, which relates to the interpretation, application or administration of this Agreement, including any question as to whether a matter is arbitrable.

#### 7.02 **Definitions - Unit Executive Grievance**

A Unit Executive Grievance is defined as a difference or dispute of the Agreement which concerns a number or all of the teachers of the bargaining unit, relating to the interpretation, application, or administration of this Agreement, including any question as to whether a matter is arbitrable.

## 7.03 **Definitions - Direct Grievances and Group Grievances**

Any grievances arising directly between the Board and the Association, or any grievance involving more than one teacher, instead of following the procedure herein set out, may be submitted in writing by registered mail or personal delivery within twenty (20) working days after either party becomes aware of the circumstances giving rise to complaint.

The grievance committee shall agree to meet without delay in an attempt to settle the grievance. If this committee is unable to settle such grievance within ten (10) working days after its submission, then the group to whom the grievance was delivered shall reply in writing within five (5) working days.

#### 7.04 **Procedure**

The following procedure shall be adhered to in processing a grievance or grievances:

## **Step One**

(a) The Teacher or grievance committee shall take the matter up with the Director of Education or designate, by submitting a concise written statement of the complaint(s) and redress(es) sought, including the article numbers in question, within twenty (20) working days of the occurrence giving rise to the grievance, and shall request that a meeting be convened with the Director of Education or designate.

## **Step Two**

- (b) (i) The Director of Education or designate shall arrange and meet within five (5) working days of receipt of the letter of grievance. He/she shall give his/her decisions or answers to the grievance within five (5) working days after the meeting. His/her answer shall be in writing and a copy shall be sent to the Unit President(s).
  - (ii) A Teacher may, if he or she wishes, be accompanied to the meeting with the Director of Education or designate, by a member of the Association.

## **Step Three**

(c) If the grievance is not satisfactorily resolved at Step Two, the Association may, on behalf of the aggrieved Teacher, within five (5) working days after the reply at Step Two has been or should have been delivered, require a meeting of the Grievance Committee by delivering the grievance in writing to the Director of Education or designate, by registered mail or personal delivery.

#### **Step Four**

- (d) (i) The "Grievance Committee" shall consist of two members of the Association appointed by the Association and two representatives appointed by the Board.
  - (ii) The Grievance Committee shall convene within five (5) working days after receipt of the grievance by the Director of Education or designate, by prepaid, registered, or certified post, and the Committee shall seek to resolve the grievance within fifteen (15) working days of the first "step-four" meeting.
  - (iii) The aggrieved Teacher, or a designate, and a representative of the Board may make representations regarding the grievance.
  - (iv) Grievance Mediation Option

If the grievance committee is unable to resolve the grievance, the grievance mediation option may be pursued with mutual agreement of the Board and the Association.

(e) If the Grievance Committee is unable to resolve the grievance, the Director of Education or designate, shall within five (5) working days after the said meeting, deliver to the appointees of the Association the written reply of the Board to the grievance.

## 7.05 **Arbitration of Disputes**

- (a) If any grievance has not been satisfactorily settled pursuant to the foregoing provisions, either party may within five (5) working days, serve notice, in writing, submitting to arbitration according to the following provisions:
  - (i) The notice submitting to arbitration shall contain the name of the appointee to the Arbitration Board of the party making the submission. The recipient of the notice shall within ten (10) working days of receipt of the submission(s), inform the other party in writing of the name of its appointee to the Arbitration Board.
  - (ii) After the second party has appointed its nominee, the two nominees to the Arbitration Board shall, within ten (10) working days appoint a third person who shall serve as the chairperson of this Arbitration Board.
  - (iii) If the recipient of the notice fails to select an appointee, or if the two appointees fail to agree upon a chairperson within the time limit, then the appointment shall be made by the Minister of Labour upon request of either party. No person may be appointed to the Arbitration Board who has participated directly in an attempt to settle the grievance.
  - (iv) The Arbitration Board established as above, shall decide the grievance submitted to it, and any related question(s), including whether the matter is arbitrable, but this Board shall have no power to alter, modify, or amend this agreement nor make any decision inconsistent therewith.
  - (v) The Arbitration Board shall hear and decide the grievance, and shall issue its decision in writing and the decision shall be final and binding upon the parties and any teacher affected by it. The decision of a majority of the Arbitration Board is the decision of the Arbitration Board, but if there is no majority, the decision of the chairperson governs.
  - (vi) Each party shall pay the cost of its own appointee to the Arbitration Board, and the parties shall equally share the cost of the chairperson.
  - (vii) The decision of the Arbitration Board shall be submitted, in writing, by

registered mail, or personal delivery, to the two parties.

- (b) As an alternative to 7.05 above, both parties may, upon mutual agreement, choose a single arbitrator to settle the grievance.
  - (i) The notice submitting to a single arbitrator shall contain the names of the three suggested appointees of the party making the submission. The recipient either agrees to one of the nominees or suggests three other appointees.
  - (ii) If the parties fail to select an appointee, then the appointment shall be made by the Minister of Labour on request of either party. No person may be appointed who has participated directly in an attempt to settle the grievance.
  - (iii) The Arbitrator established as above, shall decide the grievance, and any related question(s), including whether the matter is arbitrable, but this Arbitrator shall have no power to alter, modify, or amend this agreement nor make any decision inconsistent therewith.
  - (iv) The Arbitrator shall hear and decide the grievance, and shall issue a decision in writing and the decision shall be final and binding upon the parties and any teacher affected by it.
  - (v) The parties shall equally share the cost of the Arbitrator.
  - (vi) The decision of the Arbitrator shall be submitted, in writing, by registered mail or personal delivery, to the two parties.
- 7.06 The term working days when used in this Article, shall mean Monday to Friday inclusive throughout the year, but excluding school holidays as defined by the Ministry of Education under the *Education Act* with the exception of July and August.
- 7.07 Any time limits fixed by this Article may, at any time, be extended by mutual agreement of the representatives of the parties involved.

#### 7.08 Expedited Arbitration (O.L.R.A.)

- (a) Notwithstanding the procedure above, either party may request access to expedited arbitration under Section 49 of the *Ontario Labour Relations Act*.
- (b) A written request may be made after the grievance procedure under the agreement has been exhausted or after thirty (30) days have elapsed from the time at which the grievance was first brought to the attention of the other party, whichever occurs first.
- (c) Despite article 7.08(b) above, where the grievance is due to discharge or other termination of employment a request may be made in writing after the grievance procedure has been exhausted or after fourteen (14) days have elapsed from the time which the grievance was first brought to the attention of the other party, whichever

occurs first.

(d) No such request in 7.08(b) or (c) above shall be made beyond the time stipulated for referring the grievance to Arbitration.

## 7.09 **Mediation-Arbitration (O.L.R.A.)**

Notwithstanding the above, as outlined in Section 50 of the *Ontario Labour Relations Act*, the parties may agree to refer one or more grievances to mediation-arbitration for the purpose of resolving the grievance in an expeditious and informal manner.

#### 7.10 Adherence to Timelines

Failure by the Board to abide by the above timelines in a grievance that it has brought against OECTA or failure by OECTA to abide by the above timelines in a grievance that it has brought against the Board, shall render the grievance abandoned.

## Item 8.00 LEAVES

#### 8.01 Attendance at Examinations and Graduation Exercises

Upon notifying the Director of Education, Teachers may be excused from attendance at school without deduction from salary for the purpose of writing examinations, for the improvement of professional qualifications when such examinations are scheduled on a regular school day and to attend their own university graduating exercises.

#### 8.02 **Bereavement Leave**

- (a) (i) A Teacher shall be entitled to a leave of absence, without loss of pay or deduction from cumulative sick leave, to a maximum of five (5) working days for the purpose of attending a funeral of a member of his/her immediate family if the deceased member lived one hundred and sixty (160) kilometres or more from the Teachers' residence.
  - (ii) A Teacher shall be entitled to a leave of absence without loss of pay or deduction from cumulative sick leave to a maximum of five (5) consecutive calendar days, including Saturday, Sunday and any day designated as a holiday, for the purpose of attending a funeral of a member of his/her immediate family, if the deceased member lived within one hundred and sixty (160) kilometres of the Teachers' residence.
  - (iii) A Teacher shall be entitled to a leave of absence, without loss of pay or deduction from cumulative sick leave, to a maximum of five (5) working days for the purpose of attending a funeral of a member of his/her immediate family if the deceased member lived within one hundred and sixty (160) kilometres of the Teachers' residence, when the Teacher is responsible for funeral arrangements.

- (iv) A Teacher shall be entitled to a leave of absence, without loss of pay or deduction from cumulative sick leave, for one (1) day for the purpose of attending the funeral of a relative. If the funeral falls on a Saturday, Sunday or a holiday when there is no school, the Teacher shall not be entitled to a one (1) day leave of absence.
- (v) In such instances mentioned above, notice of such absence shall be made to the Director or designate either personally or through the Principal(s).
- (b) Immediate family is defined as parents, legal guardians, parents-in-law, husband, wife, children, sons-in-law, daughters-in-law, brothers, sisters, brothers-in-law, sisters-in-law, grandparents and grandchildren.
- (c) Relatives include aunts and uncles, nieces and nephews consanguine or by marriage.
- (d) On the day of the funeral of a student, staff member, or staff spouse, the Director, in consultation with the Principal, shall endeavour to make arrangements for some of the staff members of the school involved to attend the funeral services, subject to the needs of the school.
- (e) Any Teacher serving as a pallbearer shall be granted a leave of absence for one-half (½) day without loss of pay and without loss of cumulative sick leave.

#### 8.03 **Personal Leave**

#### (a) **Personal Leave Without Pay**

Teachers may be granted a leave of absence for personal leave up to a total of three (3) days per year, under special circumstances, at the discretion of the Director/designate, with loss of pay, but not sick leave credits or benefits.

#### (b) **Personal Leave With Pay**

Teachers teaching in the city of Sault Ste. Marie, may be granted a leave of absence for personal reasons up to one (1) day per year, under special circumstances, at the discretion of the Director/designate, without loss of pay, but with deduction of sick leave credits. In all cases, consideration by the Director/designate will include reference to the staffing needs, and availability of replacement of Teachers, of that Teacher's school. The approval of this leave will not be granted to extend a holiday (ie attached to Christmas Break, March Break and the beginning or end of the school year).

Teachers working outside of the city of Sault Ste. Marie may be granted a leave of absence for personal leave up to a maximum of two (2) days per year, at the discretion of the Director/designate, without loss of pay. These days may be taken consecutively or individually, but in all cases, consideration by the Director/designate will include reference to the staffing needs, and availability of

replacement Teachers, of that Teacher's school.

## 8.04 Compassionate Leave

A Teacher may be granted a leave of absence for compassionate leave to a maximum of two (2) days per occasion at the discretion of the Director or designate without loss of pay or deduction from cumulative sick leave. In addition, up to an additional 2 days may be granted, at the Director or designate's discretion, where extensive travel time is required on the part of the Teacher.

If the Director or designate is not available, the Teacher shall notify his/her immediate supervisor of the reasons for his/her absence. Where the Teacher's immediate supervisor is not available, the Teacher, in these circumstances, must make all reasonable efforts to inform another Teacher or school official of his or her pending absence. Upon return the employee shall notify the Director or designate of the reasons for the absence and the Director or designate shall determine if compassionate leave is to be granted.

Each year, the Director shall meet with the Association president to review the criteria used for granting leave under this clause.

#### 8.05 Cumulative Sick Leave Plan

- (a) The Board shall be responsible for maintaining records listing Sick Leave credits, the accumulated credits, and any deductions which have been made.
- (b) An annual statement shall be given to each Teacher which shall indicate the number of accumulated days for which he/she is credited.
- (c) If any dispute should occur concerning the credits of any Teacher, it shall be subject to the Grievance Procedure.
- (d) (i) The sick leave credits shall be a maximum of twenty (20) days annually. Each employee shall be credited with twenty (20) sick leave days each year. Sick leave commences on the first teaching day in September, and ends on August 31st in each calendar year.
  - (ii) A Teacher who is receiving L.T.D. benefits at the commencement of a school year will not be credited with sick leave credits during that year. However, in the event the Teacher returns during the school year for which he or she was absent and receiving L.T.D. at the beginning of the school year, he or she will be credited with twenty (20) sick days if he/she returns to work prior to February 1 and ten (10) sick days if he/she returns to work after February 1.
- (e) One-hundred per cent (100%) of the unused sick leave credits for the current year shall be placed to the credit of each Teacher, for each year, as accumulated sick leave allowance to a maximum of two hundred and forty (240) days.
- (f) (i) When a Teacher of a Board which has established a sick leave credit plan

under the *Municipal Act*, or similar legislation, becomes a Teacher of this Board, he/she shall be entitled to have placed to his/her credit the sick leave credits which he/she had accumulated in the plan of the Board by which he/she was previously employed, to the maximum of the plan of the Huron - Superior Catholic District School Board.

- (ii) However, under normal circumstances, to receive credit for accumulated sick leave under this section, a Teacher must submit a statement of his/her previously accumulated sick leave not later than two months after he/she has commenced his/her duties with the Board.
- (g) No transfer into the sick leave credit plan of this Board shall be given for any portion of accumulated sick leave for which the Teacher received service gratuity, or any other allowance, from his/her previous employer.
- (h) Any Teacher covered by this agreement who is absent from duty on account of sickness, may be required to have his or her illness certified by a physician, or dentist.
- (i) Deductions shall be made from a Teacher's sick leave credits for the number of days of absence because of illness. No salary payment shall be made to the employee for absence beyond the number of days to his/her credit in the sick leave plan.
- (j) All deductions shall be made from the current year's sick leave credits until such credits are exhausted. After this time, deductions shall be made from the accumulated credits.
- 8.06 Part-time Teachers will be entitled to sick leave credits and accumulation pro-rated to the extent of their teaching duties. As an example, a half-time ( .5) Teacher would receive ten (10) sick leave day credits at the beginning of the year that would be deducted at one half (.5) days per absence. That Teacher would thus accumulate seven (7) days to be carried forward were they to use six (6) "sick days" over the year. A Teacher teaching .25 time would receive five (5) sick day credits at the beginning of the year and would carry forward three and a half (3.5) sick days if they were to use six (6) "sick days" over the year.

#### 8.07 Leave of Absence

- (a) With a written request, a leave of absence to any Teacher may be granted at the discretion of the Board, having regard for the number of Teachers who may be required at the termination of the Leave of Absence.
- (b) Any Leave of Absence granted shall not be for a longer duration than one teaching year.
- (c) If a Teacher is granted a Leave of Absence, he/she may maintain benefit coverage by paying the required premiums himself/herself subject to the Board notifying the insurer and the eligibility for coverage as determined by the carrier.

A teacher who is on such leave shall not be credited with any sick leave during the period of such leave.

(d) Subject to the pupil and programming needs of the school(s) in question and the system as a whole, where a Teacher returns from a leave of absence, reasonable efforts will be made to allow the Teacher to return to a comparable position in the same community where he or she taught previously. In making these efforts, the Board will consider the transfer and redundancy clauses in Articles 12 and 15.

For the purpose of this clause, the following areas constitute a "community": Massey and Espanola together; Elliot Lake; Blind River; the former Board of Sault Ste. Marie; the former Board jurisdiction of Chapleau; the former Board jurisdiction of Michipicoten.

(e) Where a Teacher has been off for an extended leave due to medical reasons and has been medically certified to return to work, reasonable efforts will be made to allow the Teacher to return to a comparable position in the same community, as defined in (d) above, where he or she taught previously.

## 8.08 **Paternity Leave**

A Teacher shall be granted a leave of absence without deduction of salary to a maximum of two (2) days upon the birth/adoption of a child or children. This leave shall be taken:

the day previous to the birth or adoption.

- or the day of the birth or adoption.
- or within five (5) working days of the birth or adoption.
- or within five (5) working days of the child's release from hospital following birth or adoption.

## 8.09 Pregnancy/ Parental and Adoptive Leave

- (a) (i) Teachers shall have access to Pregnancy/Parental Leave according to the *Employment Standards Act*.
  - (ii) In special circumstances, at the discretion of the Director or designate, pregnancy or parental leave may be extended by an additional year.
  - (iii) At the completion of the statutory Pregnancy/Parental Leave, a Teacher shall return to the same assignment in the same school in which the Teacher taught prior to the leave, subject to the surplus, transfer and redundancy provisions of this collective agreement.

Notwithstanding the above, when a Teacher returns part way through a school year, in order to avoid disruption to the student and program needs, the Board reserves the right to temporarily reassign the Teacher. It is understood that the Teacher shall be assigned for the following school year to the same school in which the Teacher taught prior to their leave in accordance with the above.

- (b) A Teacher on pregnancy or parental leave shall be entitled to the accumulation of credit for Teaching experience for the duration of their statutory leave.
- (c) The Board shall continue to pay the premiums for benefits for the maximum allowed under the *Employment Standards Act* for Pregnancy Leave and Parental Leave. Teachers on parental leave shall also have the option of reimbursing the Board for the cost of maintaining his or her benefits beyond the leave granted in this clause for a period of up to one year where an additional leave has been granted under Article 8.09 (a)(ii).

## (d) Supplementary Employment Benefit Plan

The Board shall provide for Teachers on pregnancy leave a Supplementary Employment Benefit plan subject to approval by Human Resources Development Canada and subject to regulations established by the Commission. For each week of the two-week mandatory waiting period, the plan will pay a sum equal to the Employment Insurance (EI) benefit that would be payable to the member each week. To be granted a SEB benefit members must make written application to the Board prior to the expiry of the period of EI benefit providing documentation from Human Resources Development Canada outlining the commencement date of the waiting period and the amount of EI benefit payable.

## (e) Adoption Leave

Upon request, arrangements shall be made for a Teacher to be granted adoption leave to a maximum of thirty-five (35) weeks, without pay, upon the adoption of a child or children. This leave shall be extended for a period of up to one year at the request of the Teacher.

#### 8.10 Sabbatical Leave

#### (a) **Purpose**

- (i) This program is established for the purpose of recognizing Teachers who are giving significant professional service to the Board, and of offering them an opportunity for enrichment which, in turn, will benefit our school system.
- (ii) Sabbatical leave may be granted for the following purposes:
  - Educational Improvement or Development.
  - Educational Study or Research.
  - Enrichment or Leadership Training.

#### (b) **Number and Duration**

(i) Each school year one Sabbatical Leave may be granted to a Teacher who qualifies. The duration of such leave shall not exceed one school year.

(ii) More than one Teacher may receive a Sabbatical Leave in a given year provided that the total duration of the leave does not exceed one year.

## (c) Qualifications

- (i) To qualify for Sabbatical Leave, a Teacher must have taught for seven (7) years and have been employed at least five (5) years by the Huron-Superior Catholic District School Board or one of its four predecessor Boards.
- (ii) Teachers who may qualify for Sabbatical Leave shall be defined as persons employed full-time by the Board as a classroom Teacher, Consultant, Coordinator, specialized Teacher.

## (d) Granting of Sabbatical Leave

- (i) Sabbatical Leave may be granted by the Board to persons referred to in 8.10(c)(i) on application to the Board through the Director of Education.
- (ii) Those Teachers who are applying for a Sabbatical leave shall include detailed information regarding their curriculum vitae and their plans for the Sabbatical Year.
- (iii) Applications shall be submitted to the Director of Education by November 1st prior to the school year of which Sabbatical Leave is requested.
- (iv) The Committee shall meet and make a recommendation of selection to the Board through the Director of Education prior to December 1st.
- (v) The final approval shall be the decision of the Board.

#### (e) Composition of Sabbatical Leave Committee

The Sabbatical Leave Committee shall consist of three (3) representatives appointed by the Branch Affiliates, the Chairperson or Vice-Chairperson of the Board and two (2) trustees. The Director of Education shall act as Chairperson and Secretary of this Committee.

#### (f) Selection of Teacher for Sabbatical Leave

- (i) Careful study of the applications shall be given by the Committee.
- (ii) In the final selection of the person who may be recommended for Sabbatical Leave, the Committee should give considerable weight to the nature of the proposed Sabbatical Leave projects, and of the system's need for this contribution.

## (g) Reporting Sabbatical Leaves

A Teacher, on his/her return from Sabbatical Leave, shall submit a written report to the Board on the educational benefits of his/her leave.

## (h) **Payment**

- (i) A Teacher on Sabbatical Leave shall receive 50% of his/her grid salary. He/she shall be granted the option to augment 50% of his/her salary by using sick leave credit to raise his/her total remuneration to a maximum of 100% of his/her basic grid salary.
- (ii) Superannuation deductions shall be continued as provided by the Teachers' Pension Plan Board. Deductions shall be made on the actual salary drawn including sick leave credit.
- (iii) A Teacher who is granted a Sabbatical Leave shall be eligible upon return to duty,
  - a) to assume the same position (i.e. consultant to consultant etc.) at the current rate in accordance with Items 5 & 20, or
  - b) to apply for a vertical promotion.
- (iv) Cumulative Sick Leave credits will not be granted for the period of Sabbatical Leave.
- (v) All other premiums for benefits shall be maintained by the Board for the Teacher concerned, subject to eligibility as determined by the carrier.
- (vi) One whole year of Sabbatical Leave shall be recognized as one year of experience.
- (vii) A Teacher taking Sabbatical Leave shall give a commitment in writing in a form approved by the Board, to continue to teach for the Board for the three (3) full school years immediately upon returning from the Sabbatical Leave. Should the Teacher resign at an earlier date, the total salary including Cumulative Sick Leave credit paid by the Board shall be repaid on a pro rata basis over a period of time not to exceed three (3) years.

#### 8.11 Teacher Self-Funded Deferred Salary Leave Plan

#### (a) Description

The Teachers' Deferred Salary Leave Plan has been developed to afford Teachers the opportunity of taking a one (1) year leave of absence with pay. This can be achieved by spreading two (2) years' salary over three (3) years, or three (3) years' salary over

four (4) years, or four (4) years' salary over five (5) years', etc.

e.g. 
$$\underline{\text{year}}$$
  $\text{year} + 1$ 

The terms of the agreement shall be jointly determined by the Teacher and the Board.

#### (b) Eligibility

Any Teacher having three (3) years seniority with this Board and holding a permanent contract with this Board may apply to participate in the Plan.

## (c) Application

- (i) A Teacher must make written application to the Director of Education or designate on or before February 1st, requesting permission to participate in the Plan.
- (ii) Acceptance or rejection of a Teacher's application shall be at the discretion of the Board.
- (iii) Written acceptance, or rejection of the Teacher's application with explanation, shall be forwarded to the Teacher by May 25th in the school year the request is made.
- (iv) In the approval of applications priority shall be given to the staffing and program needs of the school system. If applications permit, the Board shall accept a maximum of ten (10) Teachers per year into the Plan. Leaves shall be granted on the basis of seniority. In the event of a tie based on seniority, lots shall be drawn.

## (d) **Deferral of the Leave**

- (i) If a qualified and acceptable replacement cannot be found for a Teacher who has been granted a leave, the Board may defer the leave for one (1) year.
- (ii) In such a case the Board shall give the participating Teacher written notice of deferment at the earliest possible date known to them or at least by the 5th working day of May of the year in which the leave was to commence.
- (iii) In such a case the participating Teacher may choose to withdraw from the Plan or remain in the Plan by giving the Director of Education written notice of intent within ten (10) days of notification of deferral of leave.
- (iv) Where the Teacher chooses to remain in the Plan, an amendment to the contract must be entered into within fifteen (15) days of the decision to remain in the Plan or the Teacher shall be deemed to have withdrawn from

the Plan.

## (e) Withdrawal from the Plan

If a Teacher wishes to withdraw from the Plan, written notice of withdrawal shall be given to the Director of Education. Payment of any monies and accumulated interest shall be paid, subject to statutory deductions, within ten (10) working days of the receipt of the letter of withdrawal.

#### (f) **Implementation of the Plan**

The financial arrangements for funding the year of leave shall be as follows:

- (i) Each Teacher in the Plan shall sign an agreement with the Board. The agreement shall specify the terms and conditions agreed to by the Teacher and the Board. Copies of this agreement shall be provided to the Teacher, Board and the Association.
- (ii) The Board shall deduct from each pay an amount according to the schedule below:

<u>Plan</u>	<u>Deduction</u>
2/3	33.33% of the Teacher's gross salary for that pay period
3/4	25 % of the Teacher's gross salary for that pay period
4/5	20% of the Teacher's gross salary for that pay period
5/6	16.67% of the Teacher's gross salary for that pay period
6/7	14.29% of the Teacher's gross salary for that pay period

- (iii) The sums deducted in accordance with (ii) above shall be placed in an individual savings account at a bank of the Board's choice. Such accounts shall be in the Board's name and held in trust for the individual Teacher.
- (iv) During the final year of the plan, the Teacher shall be granted a leave of absence. While on leave, the Teacher shall be paid the monies accumulated as of the commencement date of the leave in the account described in (iii) above in accordance with the agreed upon payment formula. All additional sums generated by the said account shall be paid on the last payment date.
- (v) There shall be no administration fee for implementation of the plan.
- (vi) Subject to the terms of the group insurance policies in effect and the eligibility for coverage for the year of leave, the Board agrees to pay the premiums for the Teacher's benefit plan in accordance with the Collective Agreement. For the year of leave the full cost of such Teacher's benefit plans is to be deducted from the participant's pay as provided above.
- (vii) Payroll deductions for income tax, CPP and EI shall be made according to

ruling received from the appropriate authorities.

- (viii) The participating Teacher shall agree to hold the Board harmless against all claims or demands that may arise out of deductions or payments made in accordance with rulings received, such as Canada Pension Plan, Employment Insurance, Income Tax, Teachers' Pension Plan, etc.
- (ix) Subject to the pupil and programming needs of the school(s) in question and the system as a whole, where a Teacher returns from a leave, reasonable efforts will be made to allow the Teacher to return to the same community where he or she taught previously. In making these efforts, the Board will consider the transfer and redundancy clauses in Articles 12 and 15.

For the purposes of this clause, the following areas constitute a "community:" Massey and Espanola together; Elliot Lake; Blind River; the city of Sault Ste. Marie; the former Board jurisdiction of Chapleau; the former Board jurisdiction of Michipicoten.

- (x) Sick leave credit, seniority and experience including experience for retirement gratuity shall not accumulate during the year spent on leave. Any sick leave accumulated prior to the leave shall be carried over to the year of the Teacher's return.
- (xi) Teachers who cease to be covered by the Collective Agreement while enrolled in the Plan shall be required to withdraw and shall be paid a lump sum adjustment for any monies deferred to the date of withdrawal, plus any interest earned in the account described in (f)(iii). Repayments shall be made within sixty (60) days of the withdrawal from the Plan.
- (xii) Teacher Pension deductions are to be maintained in accordance with the *Teachers' Pension Act*, as amended from time to time. Teachers are solely responsible for any other arrangements that may be made with the Teachers' Pension Plan Board.
- (xiii) A Teacher may withdraw from the Plan at any time prior to February 28th of the calendar year in which the Self-Funded Deferred Leave is to commence. Upon withdrawal, any monies plus interest accumulated in the account described in (f)(iii), shall be repaid to the Teacher within sixty (60) days of notification of his/her desire to leave the Plan.
- (xiv) Should a Teacher die while participating in the Plan, any monies plus interest accumulated in the savings account mentioned in (f)(iii), at the time of death, shall be paid to the Teacher's Estate.

## (g) Agreement Re: Teacher Self-Funded Deferred Salary Leave Plan

This Teacher Self-Funded Deferred Salary Leave Plan is between the Huron-Superior Catholic District School Board and \_\_\_\_\_\_

I have read the terms and conditions of the Huron-Superior Catholic District School Board Teacher Self-Funded Deferred Salary Leave Plan and hereby agree to enter the Plan under the following terms and conditions.

	of Leave I take my leave of absence from the Huron-Superior Catholic District School I
from	
to	
Finan	icial Arrangements
	inancing of my participation in the Teacher Self-Funded Deferred Salary Leav shall be according to the following schedule:
3.1	Commencing September 1, 20 I wish to defer of each of my salar payments for the next years. (i.e. September 1, 20 to June 30 inclusive).
3.2	Annually, the Huron-Superior Catholic District School Board shall provide me with a statement regarding the status of my account by the end of September.
3.3	In the year of the leave, the total monies accumulated as of August 31 of the year shall be paid, subject to statutory deductions, either in one lump sum is September, in two (2) payments (one in September and one in January) of through bi-weekly payments, with accumulated interest. The teacher must submit the designated board form indicating their preferred option, by Jun 15 <sup>th</sup> in the year prior to their leave.
3.4	The final payment shall include all interest that has accrued.
	Teacher's Present School
	Teacher's Signature

 Director of Education	
Date	

## 8.12 **Court Appearance**

If a Teacher is charged with a criminal or any other offence while performing the functions of a Teacher or duties assigned by the Board, and such a Teacher is not found guilty of that offence, or if the charge is withdrawn, such a Teacher shall be entitled to payment of salary for the number of days that he/she was absent from work as a result of attendance at court in connection with such charge. It is understood that an employee will be entitled to salary only if he or she was employed for the relevant period.

## 8.13 Witness or Jury Duty Fees

Any witness or jury duty fees are reimbursed to the Board without loss of salary if a Teacher is so summoned by the court. In those circumstances where a teacher is summoned by the court in a proceeding which was initiated by them, they will be given a leave of absence without pay. Exceptional circumstances shall be addressed and a leave may be granted with pay at the discretion of the Director or designate. A copy of any subpoena/summons by the Court shall be forwarded to the Human Resources Department.

## 8.14 Quarantine

Teachers are entitled to salary despite absence from duty in any case where, because of exposure to communicable disease, the Teacher is quarantined or otherwise prevented by the order of medical health authorities from attending upon his or her duties. These days shall be deducted from sick leave credits.

## 8.15 Emergency Leave

Teachers shall have access to Emergency Leave according to the *Employment Standards Act*.

## 8.16 **Family Medical Care Leave**

Teachers shall have access to Family Medical Care Leave according to the *Employment Standards Act*.

#### **Item 9.00 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS**

9.01 The Board reserves unto itself all management rights and shall exercise these rights in a manner consistent with this agreement, subject to all relevant laws, statutes and regulations of Ontario and Canada, which may be enacted from time to time, including, but not limited to: the Education Act and the regulations thereto; the Ontario Labour Relations Act; and the Education Quality and Accountability Office Act and the Occupational Health and Safety Act and the regulations thereto.

9.02 No alteration, variation or addition to the express terms of this agreement shall be made by any arbitrator or Board of Arbitration.

#### Item 10.00 WORKPLACE SAFETY & INSURANCE BOARD

- 10.01 The Board agrees to provide to the Local Bargaining Unit and the injured teacher any return to work plan or any other prescribed information, form and/or correspondence between the Board and the WSIB regarding a teacher's WSIB claim where permitted by law, with the written consent of the Teacher.
- 10.02 It is agreed that, when a Teacher is eligible for and receives approval of a claim by the Workplace Safety & Insurance Board, the Teacher is entitled to one hundred percent (100%) of their usual wages and benefits from the day the accident occurred, for the duration of the teacher's absence from work without deduction from sick leave credits.
- Where a teacher receives workers' benefits as determined by the Workers' Safety and Insurance Board, such payments shall be directed to the Board.
- 10.04 The denial of workers' benefits does not preclude the use of sick leave as determined by the collective agreement.

#### **Item 11.00 WORKING CONDITIONS**

## 11.01 Elementary Teachers

## (a) Preparation/Planning Time

(i) Each Teacher at the elementary level shall receive preparation and planning time free of duties for use at the professional discretion of the Teacher. For every one-thousand five hundred (1500) minutes of instructional time, a Teacher shall receive the following amount of preparation and planning time:

2008-2009	200 minutes
2009-2010	210 minutes
2010-2011	220 minutes
2011-2012	230 minutes
Effective August 31, 2012	240 minutes

- (ii) A Teacher's right to an equal amount of time (as per article 11.01 a) shall be provided in each case as the school day is organized for each year.
- (iii) Notwithstanding other provisions in this collective agreement, the Board may assign the additional teaching staff generated by the increase in elementary teacher preparation time above the 2008-09 level to enable full-time school based teaching assignments in the Arts in more than one elementary school. This shall be done in consultation with the Joint Staffing Committee.

(iv)Notwithstanding other provisions in this collective agreement, the additional weekly minutes of preparation time above the 2008-09 level generated within twenty (20) consecutive instructional days, may be aggregated to provide for meaningful blocks of preparation time for teachers.

#### (b) Instructional Day

The daily instructional program at an elementary school shall not exceed three hundred (300) minutes in length.

#### (c) Supervision

- (i) Elementary teachers shall be available to students in their classroom fifteen minutes prior to the first scheduled class of the day and five minutes prior to the first scheduled class in the afternoon. Such time shall not constitute supervision/on-call or instructional time. Any assigned supervision duty during the times as outlined above, such as but not limited to, bus duty, hall duty and / or yard duty shall constitute supervision.
- (ii) The maxima of supervision per week for elementary teachers is as follows:

```
100 minutes in 2008-2009;
90 minutes in 2009-2010;
80 minutes in 2010-2011;
80 minutes in 2011-2012.
```

- (iii) The introduction of the maxima described above shall not increase Collective Agreement provisions or current practice during the 2007-2008 school year, where such provisions may be more favorable.
- (iv) Supervision shall be assigned by the Principal equitably among the staff.
- (v) The Board shall provide the Association with a tentative master supervision schedule in a timely manner but no later than October 15<sup>th</sup> of each school year. Pursuant to ii) above, any concerns regarding the scheduling of supervision shall be referred to the Joint Staffing Committee.
- (vi)Supervision assignments shall be pro-rated based on percentage of employment contract.
- (d) Release Time for Assessment, Evaluation and Report Cards
  - (i) In the 2009-10 school year, one Professional Activity Day will be designated for the purpose of assessment and completion of report cards at the elementary level. The day will be designated in the calendar prior to the first reporting period.

(ii) Effective September 2010, two (2) Professional Activity Days will be designated: one prior to the first reporting period and one prior to the second reporting period.

## 11.02 **Secondary Teachers**

- (a) A Full-time Teacher shall be assigned duties consisting of six (6) credit/credit-equivalent courses and additional duties, set out as follows:
  - (i) A maximum of six (6) full periods assigned as supervision so that Teachers will be eligible for their forty (40) consecutive minutes for lunch breaks on the day of supervision. Noon-hour supervision shall be defined as half (1/2) the normal lunch period to a maximum of one day out of each four (4) day cycle.

Secondary teachers shall be available to students in their classroom fifteen minutes prior to the first scheduled class of the day and five minutes prior to the first scheduled class in the afternoon. Such time shall not constitute supervision/on-call or instructional time. Any assigned supervision duty during the times as outlined above, such as but not limited to, bus duty, hall duty and / or yard duty shall constitute supervision.

- (b) Part-time Teachers shall be pro-rated to that of a Teacher as defined in 11.02 a).
- (c) All unassigned instructional time shall be available for teacher preparation and planning time for use at the professional discretion of the Teacher.
- (d) The daily instructional program at a secondary school shall not exceed three hundred (300) minutes in length.
- (e) Dual Credit Courses

A secondary school's Average Daily Enrolment in Dual Credit courses shall be included in the calculation of the number of secondary teaching positions required in the Board pursuant to this collective agreement and/or any class-size regulation.

## 11.03 Organizational Unit/Lead Teachers

- (a) Secondary School organization shall consist of a clustering of subjects into organizational units. Board Administration shall decide the number of units and clustering of subjects in all units in consultation with the Association.
- (b) The Lead Teacher is a term position of one year. The intent is to allow for the flexibility to react to changing circumstances. The intent is to allow for a reasonable apportionment of available funds for each position.
- (c) Each organizational unit shall have access to two (2) days of release per semester. The Principal shall allocate these release days in consultation with the Lead Teacher of the organizational unit.

## 11.04 **Teacher in Charge**

- (a) The parties recognize that from time to time school administrators (Principal/Vice-Principal) may be absent temporarily from their duties. To accommodate these situations, a teacher(s) may be designated as a "Teacher In Charge" at a school. It is understood that this clause does not necessarily mean that the Teacher in Charge has been assigned these duties on every occasion that the Principal or Vice-Principal is away from the school, but only on those occasions where the duties have been specifically assigned. All teachers will be eligible to apply yearly for this position.
- (b) No teacher shall be assigned without his/her consent.
- (c) A Teacher in Charge will remain a member of the bargaining unit for the duration of the duties assigned and will retain all rights and privileges accorded under the terms of the Collective Agreement.
- (d) "Teacher in Charge" shall be compensated at the daily rate of \$40.00 for each full day, where the Teacher has been specifically assigned these duties. Where the Principal specifically assigns these duties for a partial day, this payment shall be prorated.
- (e) The Teacher in Charge shall not participate in the evaluation or disciplining of teachers, including occasional teachers, or any other Board employee in the school.
- (f) The Teacher in Charge shall be provided with the emergency contact numbers of the Principal, Vice-Principal and superintendent. The administrators shall be available through this contact number while there is no administrator in the school.
- (g) The services of a Teacher in Charge may only be called upon when the school administrator(s) (Principal/Vice-Principal(s)) are absent from the school.
- (h) The Teacher in Charge will be given the same release time as is available for the Principal in question.
- (i) The Teacher in Charge must be informed immediately when there are no administrators in the school.
- (j) Teachers in Charge shall receive at least one-half (1/2) day of in-service on a school day no later than September 30<sup>th</sup>.

#### 11.05 **Personnel Files**

(a) A Teacher shall have access during normal business hours, but after school is dismissed or when school is not in session not including professional activity days to his/her personnel files at the Board Office upon written request to the Director or designate. A Teacher shall also have access to his/her in school performance appraisal file.

The Teacher may have a copy of the material contained in these files.

- (b) The Director or designate shall be present when a Teacher reviews personnel files located at the Board Office. The Teacher may be accompanied by an individual of the Teacher's choice.
- (c) Any disagreement regarding the accuracy of the information contained in the file may be subject to the grievance procedure.
- (d) At the written request of a Teacher, copies from that Teacher's personnel file shall be sent in a sealed envelope to such Teacher, who will sign for it.

#### 11.06 Administration of Medication to Students

A Teacher shall not undertake any medical/physical procedures for pupils on a regular or time-tabled basis, except those procedures dealing with the administration of medication as outlined in Board Policy. However, Teachers may, in the instance of medical emergencies, perform such procedures as are necessary for the safety and well being of the student.

#### 11.07 Lunch Break

Each Teacher shall have the right to (forty) 40 consecutive minutes of free and uncommitted lunch break time. Normally, lunch is during the same time as students. In cases when it is not during the same time, it is understood this period shall not be counted as preparation and planning time.

#### 11.08 Travel Time

A teacher who is assigned duties at two (2) or more locations on the same day shall be provided with adequate travel time between the locations. Travel time shall be exclusive of lunch, preparation time and supervision assignments.

#### Item 12.00 TRANSFERS

#### 12.01 **Board-Initiated Transfers (Surplus)**

- (a) Any Board-initiated transfer for the following school year which is due to a surplus of Teachers due to declining enrolment or reduced funding that directly affects staffing, shall be declared by May 31st and shall be in order of least seniority within any school where such a surplus occurs (according to an established list of seniority) and shall be in the following order:
  - (i) Voluntary Transfers;
  - (ii) Leave of Absence;
  - (iii) Move to a position occupied by a Teacher with the least Board seniority in that community as defined below.
  - (iv) Move to an opening in the system or move to the position occupied by the Teacher with the least Board seniority in the system.

Notwithstanding the above, all of the above considerations shall be subject to

qualifications required under the *Education Act* and regulations.

(b) Where a Teacher is, or Teachers are, surplus to a school during the school year, the Board may transfer the Teacher or Teachers with the least seniority within any school where such a surplus occurs (according to an established list of seniority).

The Board will make reasonable efforts to execute such transfers in a manner that will allow such transferred Teachers to transfer within their community. For the purposes of this clause community is defined as: Massey-Espanola; Elliot Lake-Blind River; the former Board area of Michipicoten; the former Board area of Chapleau; the former Board area of Sault Ste. Marie.

Where, at some later date, an opening exists in a transferred Teacher's former school, municipality or community, the Board will, subject to pupil and programming needs, allow that Teacher the opportunity to return.

#### 12.02 **Board-Initiated Transfers**

Notwithstanding the above, the Board may initiate the transfer of a Teacher at any time during the school year. In such cases the transfer will take place within the same community (as defined in article 12.01), except that the Board also has the discretion to transfer Teachers between the elementary and secondary panels within the city of Sault Ste. Marie.

The right of Board-initiated transfer is not fettered by the concept of seniority or by any clauses of this agreement that relate to seniority.

The Board shall notify the Association of all Board-initiated transfers.

#### 12.03 **Teacher-Initiated Transfer**

- (a) Each Teacher who wishes to transfer to another school for the next school year shall
  - (i) Inform the Director or designate in writing by April 1<sup>st</sup> of any calendar year in question in which a transfer is sought that such Teacher wishes a transfer;
  - (ii) Indicate to what school(s), grade(s) or area the Teacher wishes a transfer.
- (b) Upon receipt of such a request for transfer, the Director or designate shall endeavour to comply with the Teacher's request subject to pupil and program needs and the personnel complement in the affected school and the system as a whole.
- (c) Subject to pupil and programming needs, in the event of two (2) or more Teachers eligible for such transfer, the priority for such a transfer shall be in accordance with the seniority of the applicant.
- (d) The Director or designate shall inform all Teachers requesting a transfer of his or her decision by June 15th next ensuing after the receipt of the written request for such a transfer.

(e) If a Teacher's request for a transfer is not granted, the Teacher shall have the option of remaining in his or her current placement, subject to the provisions of this Collective Agreement.

# 12.04 Vacancies/Postings

- (a) Vacancies are defined as those teaching positions within the bargaining unit which may become available due to attrition, growth, transfer or newly created positions.
- (b) The Board shall post a list of vacancies in a timely manner.
- (c) For vacancies effective September of the following school year:
  - (i) For vacancies that are posted prior to May 1<sup>st</sup>, the Board shall first fill positions from the recall list in accordance with article 15.03 and then according to the transfer processes defined in articles 12.01, 12.02 and 12.03.
  - (ii) In the event of unfilled vacancies or vacancies that arise after May 1<sup>st</sup> (subject to article 15.03), the Board shall hire to fill the vacancy. For vacancies that are filled after April 30<sup>th</sup> and before September 1<sup>st</sup>, the Board will post said vacancies for the following school year by May 1<sup>st</sup>.
- (d) For vacancies that must be filled during the current school year; the Board shall first fill positions from the recall list in accordance with article 15.03. In the event that there are no Teachers on the recall list, the Board may hire to fill the vacancy for the remainder of the school year and then post said vacancies for the following school year by May 1<sup>st</sup>.

#### **Item 13.00 SHARED POSITIONS**

#### 13.01 **Application**

- (a) Only full-time Teachers may apply for shared positions.
- (b) Two qualified Teachers wishing to share one position, on a half-time basis under this Article, shall both make a written request to the Board which shall include the grade level for sharing by April 1st of the year in which the position sharing would commence.
- (c) The Board may approve the request for position sharing. The Board shall notify the Teachers of its decision no later than the first Board meeting in June. Such position sharing arrangements shall be for a one year period but may be renewed upon request and approval by the Board. However, if in the opinion of the Board, complications arise during the year that are not conducive to the teaching-learning situation in the classroom, the Board may, at any time during the position sharing arrangement, terminate the arrangement and re-assign one or both Teachers.
- (d) The principal of the school in which the sharing is to occur shall be consulted by the

- supervisory officer prior to the Board reaching a decision.
- (e) While participating in position sharing under this clause, a Teacher shall retain his/her full-time contract status.
- (f) If Board approval is granted the Teachers and the Board shall sign a Letter of Agreement covering the Position Sharing Agreement.

# 13.02 Responsibilities

- (a) Teachers sharing a position shall attend all staff meetings, School Council meetings P.T.A. meetings, professional development days, curriculum meetings and all other scheduled school or school Board meetings or events as would be expected of a full-time staff member without additional compensation or benefits. These meetings and events may occur during times when the Teachers are not scheduled to be in class.
- (b) Teachers sharing a position shall share, equitably, all responsibilities, duties, and facilities as would a full-time staff member. Where a dispute arises between two Teachers sharing a position, the school principal shall resolve the dispute subject to the supervisory officers' approval. Such decisions are not subject to the grievance procedure (Item 7.00 Grievance Procedures).

# 13.03 Payment, Benefits and Experience

- (a) Payment shall be based on teaching qualifications and experience and shall be prorated in accordance with time worked.
- (b) The Board shall pay the premiums for benefits, in accordance with the Collective Agreement, which, in the case of non salary-related benefits, shall be pro-rated in accordance with time worked. For non salary-related benefits (e.g. Extended Health Care and Dental) the Teacher(s) shall have the option of either not participating in these benefits, or paying the difference in cost by payroll deduction in order to retain full benefit coverage.
- (c) Cumulative Sick Leave credits, shall be pro-rated in accordance with time worked.
- (d) It shall be the responsibility of a Teacher in a shared position who desires to purchase a full year's credit in the Teachers' Pension Plan to complete and forward any required forms or documents to the Teachers' Pension Plan Board.
  - The Board shall confirm, in writing, to the Commission their approval of the Teacher's participation in position sharing.
- (e) Experience shall be accumulated on a pro-rated basis in accordance with time worked.
- (f) Seniority shall be accumulated on a full year basis for each year of position sharing by each participant.

#### 13.04 Renewal

Teachers wishing to continue position sharing for the next school year shall request in writing to the Board a renewal of the arrangement by April 1st of the present school year.

### 13.05 **Termination**

At the termination of position sharing Teachers shall be assigned a position subject to Item 15.00 Redundancy, but no assurance shall be given them regarding grade or school.

#### 13.06 LETTER OF AGREEMENT REGARDING SHARED POSITIONS

I,		
and I,		
request permission to share a position on a half-time basis, as outlined in		
Positions of the Collective Agreement, commencing the September	_20	and
terminating August 20		
Grade level shared:		
School		
Principal		

#### Item 14.00 SPECIAL CONDITIONS FOR SCHOOL CLOSURE

- 14.01 (a) Whenever some schools are closed for any reasons deemed necessary by the Director or designate, Teachers shall be required to report for duty. If, at the discretion of the Director, the pupils of some schools are dismissed, the Teachers may also be dismissed at the discretion of the Principal without loss of pay, or sick leave benefits.
  - (b) When all or some of the schools are closed for any reason deemed necessary by the Director or designate, and this announcement is made during the regular teaching hours, Teachers shall not be required to remain at school after all the students have been dismissed and have left the school property.
  - (c) When all or some of the schools are closed for any reason deemed necessary by the Director, and this announcement is made prior to the beginning of classes, Teachers shall not be required to report for duty. Teachers' salaries shall not be affected and no sick leave benefits shall be deducted, except for those members of staff who were absent both on the day prior to the closing of the schools, and on the day immediately following the resumption of regular classes.

### Item 15.00 SENIORITY/REDUNDANCY

# 15.01 Method of Determination of Seniority

Seniority shall be the length of continuous service with this Board or the predecessor Boards since most recent date of hire.

- (a) Where reduction of teaching staff is necessary because of redundancy, reductions shall be made on the following basis and in the following order
  - (i) normal attrition;
  - (ii) probationary Teachers;
  - (iii) permanent Teachers in the following order:
    - 1 continuous service with this Board or predecessor Boards since most recent date of hire:
    - 2 teaching experience with this Board or predecessor Boards;
    - other teaching experience in Ontario recognized by this Board;
    - 4 any other teaching experience recognized by the Board;
    - 5 highest qualifications in accordance with Q.E.C.O. as defined in this agreement and in effect during the currency of this agreement;
    - 6 lot.
- (b) Where two or more Teachers have the same seniority under 15.01(a), the order of the lists shall be decided upon the basis of lot conducted jointly by the Board and the Association at the Board office. The draw by lot will occur only in the event a declaration of redundancy affects two or more Teachers who otherwise have equality of seniority.
- (c) Any Teacher who is declared redundant in accordance with Item 15.01 above shall receive from the Board a letter mailed by May 25<sup>th</sup> stating that his or her employment with the Board has become redundant because of staff reduction and that such redundancy had nothing to do with the individual's professional competence as a Teacher.

# 15.02 Special Programs and Subjects

- (a) The Board has the responsibility to ensure that designated special programs, special subjects, be maintained. To do this, the Board reserves the right to assign qualified staff to these positions.
- (b) When a Teacher in a special designated program or a specific subject is deemed redundant the Board shall
  - (i) Fill the position in question from its existing qualified staff.

This not being possible

(ii) Retain the Teacher deemed redundant who possesses the required qualifications and declare the next most junior Teacher on the seniority list redundant.

- (c) If the next most junior Teacher is unable to qualify himself/herself through a summer course and is declared redundant, he/she shall have the right to request a leave of absence of up to two (2) years to qualify himself/herself for the position in question. Upon successfully qualifying himself/herself, he/she shall be placed on the seniority list subject to Article 15.01. If, however, his/her seniority does not allow him/her to be placed in a position with the Board, he/she shall be declared redundant. It is understood that this opportunity to gain these qualifications does not extend the recall right or three (3) years stipulated below in Article 15.03(a).
- (d) Failing to take or be successful in the options outlined in part (c), the Teacher referred to in (c) shall be declared redundant effective the date he or she was initially declared redundant.

#### 15.03 **Recall**

- (a) Teachers shall be placed on the recall list for three (3) years from the date that they are declared redundant. If after three years they are not recalled to a permanent position, their names shall be removed from the recall list. It is understood that this three (3) period does not extend the two (2) year period referred to in Article 15.02(c).
- (b) When deciding which Teachers to recall, the Board shall recall Teachers in reverse order of redundancy determination as per 15.01 above, subject to qualifications and ability.
- (c) Teachers who are declared redundant may opt out of their recall rights, for any position, in any of the three (3) years they remain on the recall list without prejudice to their right to be recalled to other positions.

# 15.04 **Seniority List**

- (a) The Board shall prepare a bargaining unit seniority list as outlined in Article 15.01(a)(iii) as at November 15<sup>th</sup> in each year. The seniority list is to be distributed to each school and department by December 1<sup>st</sup> of each year. The Board shall also provide the Association with a copy.
- (b) A Teacher will accrue seniority
  - (i) for the period during which the Teacher uses his or her sick leave credits; and
  - (ii) if an employee is receiving L.T.D. benefits such employee shall remain on the seniority list and accrue seniority accordingly. It shall be noted that said employee is on an inactive list.
- (c) Principals and vice-principals who return to the bargaining unit after April 1, 1998, shall be placed as per Regulation 90/98.

#### **Item 16.00 MEETING WITH OFFICIALS**

Upon the written request of a Teacher, any discussions between the administrative officials and the Teacher regarding transfers, job security, and/or appointments, shall be held after the regular teaching day. The Teacher shall have the right to have an association representative present.

#### Item 17.00 JUST CAUSE

In the case of demotions, and suspensions, written Just Cause shall be given by the administration officials to the Teacher. In the event of specific disciplinary action which warrants an adverse written record of the event to be included in the Teacher's file, a copy of this record, which shall outline Just Cause for the action, shall be given to the Teacher. In the event of transfers if the action of the transfer is a disciplinary action, written Just Cause shall also be given. Where a Teacher is discharged, written Just Cause shall be given by the administrative officials.

# Item 18.00 RELEASE TIME

If requested by the Bargaining Unit, the Board shall grant up to 2.0 unit officers leaves of absence from teaching duties to fulfill the responsibilities inherent to the office. It is understood that this release shall be the percentage of teaching time requested. The Bargaining Unit shall notify the Board by June 1<sup>st</sup> of each year as to the amount of release time required.

- (a) Release time shall be granted to the O.E.C.T.A. unit officer(s), or in his/her/their prolonged absence a designate, without prejudice, loss of position, responsibility, salary, benefits, or seniority.
- (b) If the unit officer has a position of responsibility with the Board, he/she shall temporarily vacate his/her position of responsibility for the term of his/her term.
- (c) Salary and premiums for benefits are to be paid by the Board to the unit officer(s) and on behalf of the unit officer(s) with O.E.C.T.A. reimbursing the Board for 100% of the unit officer's salary and premiums for benefits.
- (d) Each full year of the unit officer(s)'s term(s) shall be counted as a full year of experience.
- (e) Full sick leave shall be credited during this leave. Any unused sick leave accumulated prior to and during the period of the unit officer(s) leave(s) shall be available on the return to educational duties.
- (f) Upon return to regular assignment, the Teacher(s) shall be assigned to an equivalent position in the same community, as prior to the leave, in a school, unless there is a mutual agreement to the contrary.

#### **Item 19.00 CONTINUING EDUCATION**

19.01 All Continuing Education Teachers as defined in Item 1.00 (ii) and teaching credit courses shall be paid according to the following schedule:

```
Effective September 1, 2008 - $41.85 per hour inclusive of 4% vacation pay Effective September 1, 2009 - $43.10 per hour inclusive of 4% vacation pay Effective September 1, 2010 - $44.40 per hour inclusive of 4% vacation pay Effective September 1, 2011 - $45.73 per hour inclusive of 4% vacation pay
```

19.02 Continuing Education Teachers in the Adult Day School program shall be covered by the following articles:

```
Item 6.01, 6.02, 6.03, 6.04, 6.05, 6.06, 6.08, 6.09, 6.10
Item 8.01, 8.02, 8.03, 8.04
```

In addition, effective September 1, 2008, sick leave is provided at the rate of five (5) days per year, which shall accumulate on an annual basis to the maximum defined in 8.05 e).

In addition, statutory holiday pay shall be paid for Thanksgiving, Good Friday, Easter Monday and Victoria Day.

19.03 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Collective Agreement including, without limiting the generality thereof, the Recognition clause, the only other provision of this agreement applicable to Continuing Education Teachers is the Grievance Procedure as it pertains to an alleged violation, misinterpretation or misapplication of Item 19.01 and 19.02 above.

#### **Item 20.00 GRID**

#### Effective September 1, 2008 – August 31, 2009

Category	*A	4(A1)	5(A2)	6(A3)	7(A4)
0	\$38,240	\$40,922	\$42,356	\$45,073	\$50,737
1	\$40,752	\$43,606	\$45,095	\$48,158	\$53,996
2	\$43,264	\$46,290	\$47,835	\$51,243	\$57,255
3	\$45,776	\$48,974	\$50,575	\$54,327	\$60,514
4	\$48,288	\$51,659	\$53,315	\$57,412	\$63,772

5	\$50,801	\$54,343	\$56,055	\$60,497	\$67,031
6	\$53,313	\$57,027	\$58,794	\$63,582	\$70,290
7	\$55,825	\$59,711	\$61,534	\$66,667	\$73,549
8	\$58,337	\$62,395	\$64,274	\$69,752	\$76,808
9	\$60,849	\$65,080	\$67,014	\$72,836	\$80,067
10	\$63,361	\$67,764	\$69,754	\$75,921	\$83,326
11			\$72,493	\$79,006	\$86,585

# Effective September 1, 2009 – August 31, 2010

Category	*A	4(A1)	5(A2)	6(A3)	7(A4)
0	\$39,387	\$42,150	\$43,626	\$46,425	\$52,259
1	\$41,975	\$44,914	\$46,448	\$49,602	\$55,616
2	\$44,562	\$47,679	\$49,270	\$52,780	\$58,972
3	\$47,150	\$50,444	\$52,092	\$55,957	\$62,329
4	\$49,737	\$53,208	\$54,914	\$59,135	\$65,686
5	\$52,325	\$55,973	\$57,736	\$62,312	\$69,042
6	\$54,912	\$58,738	\$60,558	\$65,489	\$72,399
7	\$57,500	\$61,502	\$63,380	\$68,667	\$75,756
8	\$60,087	\$64,267	\$66,202	\$71,844	\$79,112
9	\$62,675	\$67,032	\$69,024	\$75,022	\$82,469
10	\$65,262	\$69,797	\$71,846	\$78,199	\$85,826
11			\$74,668	\$81,376	\$89,182

# Effective September 1, 2010 – August 31, 2011

Category	*A	4(A1)	5(A2)	6(A3)	7(A4)
0	\$40,569	\$43,414	\$44,935	\$47,818	\$53,827
1	\$43,234	\$46,262	\$47,842	\$51,090	\$57,284
2	\$45,899	\$49,109	\$50,748	\$54,363	\$60,741
3	\$48,564	\$51,957	\$53,655	\$57,636	\$64,199
4	\$51,229	\$54,805	\$56,562	\$60,909	\$67,656
5	\$53,894	\$57,652	\$59,468	\$64,181	\$71,114
6	\$56,560	\$60,500	\$62,375	\$67,454	\$74,571
7	\$59,225	\$63,348	\$65,282	\$70,727	\$78,028
8	\$61,890	\$66,195	\$68,188	\$73,999	\$81,486

9	\$64,555	\$69,043	\$71,095	\$77,272	\$84,943
10	\$67,220	\$71,891	\$74,002	\$80,545	\$88,401
11			\$76,908	\$83,818	\$91,858

# Effective September 1, 2011 – August 31, 2012

55,441
59,003
62,564
66,125
69,686
73,247
76,808
80,369
83,930
87,491
91,053
94,614

<sup>\*</sup>Category A is the Pre-Degree Category established in accordance with the Pay Equity Legislation.

# 20.04 **Bi-weekly Payment of Salary**

The Teacher's salary shall be paid in equal installments over twelve months.

#### **Item 21.00 PRINTING OF AGREEMENT**

- 21.01 (a) The cost of the printing of the Collective Agreement in booklet form shall be on a cost sharing basis (50/50) between the Teachers and the Board.
  - (b) The Board shall distribute a copy of the Collective Agreement to each Teacher in its employ.

# **Item 22.00 TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT**

22.01 This agreement shall be effective from September 1, 2008 and shall remain in effect until August 31, 2012.

#### **Item 23.00 RENEWAL OF AGREEMENT**

- 23.01 (a) Written notice by either party that amendments are required shall be given before February 1st of the calendar year of the expiration date of this agreement, or any anniversary date of such expiration date.
  - (b) If notice of amendments or termination is given by either party, the other party agrees to meet for the purpose of negotiating an agreement within twenty (20) working days of the giving of such notice.
  - (c) The parties may at any time upon their mutual agreement negotiate revisions to this agreement. Any such revisions mutually agreed upon shall become effective from such dates as shall be mutually agreed upon by the parties.

#### Item 24.00 JOINT STAFFNG COMMITTEE

- 24.01 A Joint Staffing Committee (the "Committee") shall be established within ninety (90) days of ratification of this collective agreement.
- 24.02 The Committee shall be composed of three (3) representatives of the Board and three (3) representatives appointed by the Association.
- 24.03 The functions of the Committee shall be:
  - (a) To review and discuss the existing staffing model and staff allocation;
  - (b) To monitor compliance with respect to Ministry and collective agreement staffing requirements;
  - (c) To develop a Board wide staffing model;
  - (d) To make recommendations on and monitor the implementation of new programs and initiatives;
  - (e) To consider and make recommendations on staffing issues arising from the Provincial Discussion Table Agreement;
  - (f) To develop a school-based staffing consultation process;
  - (g) To consider any other matters the parties may mutually agree would be appropriate.
- 24.04 The Board shall provide all necessary reports and data related to staffing and workload in a timely manner.
- 24.05 Once the Committee is established, it shall be convened not later than October 15<sup>th</sup> in each school year. Thereafter the Committee shall meet five (5) times annually, unless otherwise agreed to by the parties.

24.06 In the event that the Committee is unable to agree on a matter within its mandate, or reach a decision on a timely basis, the provisions of the collective agreement otherwise apply.

# Item 25.00 TEACHER PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL AND NEW TEACHER INDUCTION

- 25.01 Performance Appraisal for Teachers (Experienced Teachers and New Teachers) and New Teacher Induction, as defined by the legislation, shall be conducted in accordance with the *Education Act*, Regulations, and the Ministry of Education's Technical Requirements Manual documents <u>Performance Appraisal of Experienced Teachers</u>, 2007, <u>Manual for Performance Appraisal of New Teachers</u>, 2006, and <u>Induction Elements Manual</u>, 2006. There shall be no additional domains, competencies and look-fors.
- 25.02 No member of the bargaining unit shall participate in the evaluation of another member.
- 25.03 Voluntary activities, including extra-curricular activities, shall not be considered to be within the scope of Teacher Performance Appraisal.
- 25.04 By October 15<sup>th</sup> of each school year the Board shall disclose to the Association the names, if any, and locations, of the teachers who are designated to participate in Performance Appraisal. For teachers hired after October 15<sup>th</sup>, the Board shall notify the Association within two (2) weeks of hire.
- 25.05 The name of any teacher having received other than a "satisfactory" rating in the Performance Appraisal shall be forwarded to the President of the Association immediately.
- 25.06 With regard to the Induction Elements of the New Teacher Induction Program:
  - (a) The elements of the New Teacher Induction Program shall be embedded in the instructional day.
  - (b) Subject to legislation, mentoring is a supportive and confidential process between the mentor and the New Teacher.
  - (c) The choice of a mentor shall be by mutual agreement of the New Teacher and the mentor. The New Teacher may consult with the Principal.
  - (d) A mentor must be a member of the bargaining unit with five (5) or more years of teaching experience where possible.
  - (e) The New Teacher may confidentially request a new mentor and the mentor may confidentially request to no longer act in the role of a mentor for a New Teacher at any time in the process.
  - (f) Upon receipt of a Performance Appraisal rating other than a "satisfactory", mentoring shall be terminated.
- 25.07 The Board and the Association agree to keep all matters related to Performance Appraisal as confidential except as required by law.

25.08 It is understood that a teacher's Annual Learning Plan (ALP) is an individual professional growth document. Consultation and collaboration related to the ALP shall take place in the method as defined by the Ministry of Education.

#### Item 26.00 JOINT PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

- 26.01 The Board and the Association are committed to the continuous development of a Catholic Professional Learning Community in each of the schools of the Board and system-wide, and, to that end are committed to fostering an atmosphere within each of the schools and system-wide that promotes a focus on learning, collegiality, respect for professionalism, continuous learning, collective inquiry into best practices, innovation and experimentation, all in order to improve teaching and student learning.
- 26.02 The Board and the Association agree that professional learning is job-embedded, and informed by research, done in partnership with colleagues and is to be informed by the Teachers' Annual Learning Plans. Therefore:
  - (a) A Joint Professional Development Committee (the "PD Committee") shall be established within ninety (90) days of ratification of this collective agreement.
  - (b) The PD Committee shall consist of three (3) representatives of the Board and three (3) representatives appointed by the Association.
  - (c) The PD Committee will address ways in which funds generated by the allocation in the Grants for Student Needs to enhance professional learning opportunities for teachers will be used.
  - (d) Promote best practices in the implementation of professional learning, which shall be embedded in the instructional day.
  - (e) The PD Committee will oversee that professional activities for teachers during Professional Activity Days are consistent with the learning goals identified in the Teachers' Annual Learning Plans.
  - (f) The PD Committee will provide advice and assistance to Board staff who are assigned responsibility for providing professional development to teachers and planning for such activities.
- 26.03 The parties shall meet at least four (4) times per year. Once the PD Committee has been established, the first meeting shall take place prior to September 15<sup>th</sup>.

Item 27.00	SIGNATURES	S	
Signed this	day of	, 2008.	

**Teachers' Negotiating Committee:** 

**Huron - Superior Catholic District** 

School Board's Negotiating Committee	

### **MEMORANDUM**

The following clauses shall not be part of the Collective Agreement and are not arbitrable and shall survive the signing of the Collective Agreement.

- 1. Provided the issue of Retirement Gratuity is not the subject of collective bargaining for a school year, the Board agrees not to change its policy with respect to Retirement Gratuity for that school year without having given notice to bargain.
- 2. The Board shall provide an aide, when reasonably necessary, to assist in the procedures mentioned in item #1V of the Ministry Policy Memorandum No. 81 "Provision of Health Support Services in School Setting."

# LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

#### BETWEEN:

# THE HURON-SUPERIOR CATHOLIC DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

- and -

#### ONTARIO ENGLISH CATHOLIC TEACHERS' ASSOCIATION

This letter does not form part of the collective agreement and is not grievable and not arbitrable:

The Huron-Superior Catholic District School Board and the Ontario English Catholic Teachers' Association, with a view to promoting harmonious relations, agree as follows:

A full-time Teacher who wishes to change to part-time status, or a part-time Teacher who wishes to change to full-time status, shall inform the Board of his or her desires by April 1<sup>st</sup> of any school year.

The Board shall endeavour to assist such changes in status by advertising the possible availability of such positions, where possible, within the system when they become known.

# LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

#### BETWEEN:

#### THE HURON-SUPERIOR CATHOLIC DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

- and -

# ONTARIO ENGLISH CATHOLIC TEACHERS' ASSOCIATION

Re: Ontario Health Insurance Plan

This will confirm the agreement reached by the parties during negotiations for the renewal of the 1990-92 Collective Agreement.

The Board agrees to reinstate the procedures of paying one hundred (100%) percent of the Ontario Health Insurance Plan premiums should the Ontario Government change the method of providing OHIP coverage from being provided by the employer through the Employer Health Tax to being paid by the employee. The OHIP will be reinstated in accordance with Item 6.01 of the 1988-90 Collective Agreement.

# LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

#### BETWEEN:

#### THE HURON-SUPERIOR CATHOLIC DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

- and -

#### ONTARIO CATHOLIC TEACHERS' ASSOCIATION

# RE: RETIREMENT GRATUITY AND EARLY RETIREMENT INCENTIVE PLANS

This letter does not form part of the Collective Agreement and is not grievable and not arbitrable.

The Huron-Superior Catholic District School Board shall respect the retirement gratuity plans and early retirement incentive plans of the four predecessor Boards (Sault Ste. Marie R.C. Separate School Board, Chapleau District R.C. Separate School Board, North Shore District R.C. Separate Board, Michipicoten District R. C. Separate School Board) that were in existence at the time of amalgamation and creation of the Huron-Superior Catholic District School Board, January 1, 1998. Payment, upon retirement, under such plans will continue to be made only to those Teachers who were eligible for payment under those plans as of September 9, 1998.

For greater clarity, no Teachers or any other employees covered by the Collective Agreement hired after September 9, 1998 will be eligible for retirement gratuity payments or early retirement incentive payments of any kind.

Teachers hired on or before September 9, 1998 are eligible for payment only in accordance with the terms and conditions and spirit of their respective plans or former Board policies.

This Letter of Agreement shall be interpreted to mean that employees of the former Boards who worked prior to September 10, 1998 are not necessarily entitled to an early retirement incentive or retirement gratuity of any kind and that the Board will execute the terms and conditions of those plans as they have been executed prior to amalgamation.

All date of hire or year of hire restrictions and limitations, or any other restrictions and limitations, with respect to each and all of these plans will be strictly adhered to by the Board.

Outlines of respective plans are found in Appendix # 2.

# LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

#### BETWEEN:

#### THE HURON-SUPERIOR CATHOLIC DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

- and -

# ONTARIO CATHOLIC TEACHERS' ASSOCIATION

# Re: EARLY RETIREMENT INCENTIVE PLAN OF FORMER SAULT STE. MARIE DISTRICT ROMAN CATHOLIC SEPARATE SCHOOL BOARD

This letter does not form part of the Collective Agreement and is not grievable and not arbitrable.

The Huron-Superior Catholic District School Board and the Ontario English Catholic Teacher's Association agree to the following amendments:

# Criteria for Eligibility

In order to be eligible for the ERIP, the Teacher shall:

- i) Be eligible for an unreduced pension from the Teachers' Pension Plan Board or be 50 years of age or older at the official retirement date; and
- ii) have ten years of continuous service with the Board, including leaves of absence; and
- iii) be at a maximum salary level in the respective category placement; and
- iv) not use the plan to avoid being declared redundant.

The ERIP shall be operated as follows:

- a) For participation in the ERIP, the teacher's application must be received by the Director of Education by April 1<sup>st</sup> for separation by December 31<sup>st</sup> or by October 1<sup>st</sup> for separation by March 31<sup>st</sup>.
- b) By May 1<sup>st</sup>/November 1<sup>st</sup>, the Board shall inform each applicant regarding the status of his/ her application and the amount of the incentive he/she would receive under the ERIP as of that date. This amount might vary if successful applicants withdraw from the plan before May 15<sup>th</sup> or November 25<sup>th</sup>. In such instances, the Board shall revise the amount of each incentive and inform each applicant, as practicable.
- c) By May 15<sup>th</sup>/November 25<sup>th</sup>, the Teacher must submit a letter to the Board stating his/her intent to participate in the ERIP. If the intent is to participate in the ERIP, the Teacher must submit a letter of resignation at this time.

It is agreed that all other language of the former Sault Ste. Marie District Roman Catholic Separate School Board ERIP is unchanged.

### **SERVICE GRATUITY**

# 2. Michipicoten

#### SICK LEAVE CREDIT GRATUITY

(a) It is agreed that upon retirement a teacher will be entitled to a sick leave credit gratuity based upon the following formula:

CSL (Max. 200) x 2 x Annual Salary 200

- (b) The gratuity shall be paid within one year of the retirement of a teacher, or to his/her estate upon death of a teacher after retirement.
- (c) At the discretion of the teacher, or his/her legal representative, beneficiary or estate, the method of payment shall be one of the following:
  - (i) a bulk sum payment
  - (ii) two equal payments
  - (iii) monthly payments
- (d) This gratuity shall be contingent upon five (5) years of continuous service with the Michipicoten District R.C.S.S. Board, and retirement due to the following conditions:
  - (i) Permanent disability as defined by the Teacher Pension Plan.
  - (ii) Eligibility for receiving a service pension as outlined in the Teacher Pension Plan.
  - (iii) Has attained retirement age as stipulated in Provincial or Federal legislation.

# 2. Chapleau

a) Any teacher hired prior to September 1, 1986, who has served a minimum of eight (8) years with the Board, and retires due to any of the following conditions shall be entitled to a retirement gratuity.

#### Conditions:

- 1. Death
- 2. A permanent disability defined by the Superannuation Act.
- 3. Eligibility to receive a pension.
- 4. Retired from the teaching profession.

Age 65 is recognized as the retirement age by the Board, however, the Board shall recognize retirement on account of superannuation before age 65, providing the teacher has been employed by the Board for a period of eight (8) years.

A teacher who has attained the age of 65 years on or before August 31 of any year, shall retire on June 30 of that year.

Teachers who reach 65 years of age on or after September 1 of any year, shall retire on June 30 of the following year.

Retirement gratuity shall be calculated as follows:

 $N/200 \times S/2$ 

- N: is the number of unused accumulated sick leave credit days of time of separation from the Board as a teacher or academic official
- S: is the salary at time of retirement.

In no case shall the gratuity exceed the maximum of \$25,000.00.

- (b) The gratuity shall be paid during the fiscal year following the retirement of the employee, or after an agreement is reached between the employee and the Board.
- (c) If an employee dies prior to or after retirement, thus having benefited fully from the gratuity plan to which he or she is entitled, the unpaid balance of his/her gratuity plan will be paid to his/her estate.
- (d) Employees hired with an effective employment date of September 1986 or later will not participate in the retirement gratuity plan.

### 3. **North Shore**

# **Retirement/Service Gratuity**

#### ARTICLE X RETIREMENT GRATUITY PLAN

a) Plan Continued Pursuant to the applicable provisions of the Education Act, R.S.O. 1990, c.e. 2, as amended to date and as amended and in force throughout the currency of this agreement, the Board's obligation for the payment of a retirement gratuity as set out in the agreement between the parties herein for the period 1986 - 1989 and pursuant to an amendment to the said agreement between the parties which amendment is dated December 13, 1988 and pursuant also to the personal obligations incurred by the Board in favour of any Teacher, which such obligation is evidenced by a guaranty of payment to a member of the retirement gratuity plan in a form found as Appendix "A" (page 51) and annexed and forming a part of the aforesaid amendment bearing date of December 13, 1998, the Board shall pay to any such eligible Teacher to whom it has incurred such an obligation, a retirement gratuity as defined by the aforesaid amendment to the 1986 - 1989 agreement of December 13, 1988.

# b) Calculation - Appendix "A"

Calculation, eligibility and definition of the retirement gratuity, where such is payable, shall be in accordance with the terms of Appendix "A" attached to this agreement (page 51) and forming a part thereof.

#### 4. **RETIRING ALLOWANCE PLAN**

#### **Definitions**

In this article except where otherwise provided:

- (a) "Current Teachers" shall be defined as all Teachers in the continued service of the Board prior to September 1, 1987, and also in the service of the Board as at September 1, 1987, and who are not members of the retirement gratuity plan, or who have elected not to be members of the retirement gratuity plan.
- (b) "Gross Annualized Salary" shall be determined by Board payroll records for each Teacher. In the event of a Teacher being assigned a new salary category or assigned a new teaching time allotment in any given year, or being defined as a part-time teacher as the latter is defined in Article 1 of this agreement, such Teacher's gross annualized salary shall be re-adjusted in any given year for the purposed of calculating the retiring allowance entitlement set out hereinafter. The re-adjustment shall reflect the increase or decrease, as the case may be, of the gross annualized salary for the entire given year in question, beginning with September 1 of the year so affected. For the purposes of this Article, the expression "Gross Annualized Salary" shall refer to a Teacher's Adjusted Annual Salary for any contract year of this agreement, as found in Article V herein.
- (c) "New Teachers" shall be defined as all Teachers hired to commence duties with the Board on or after September 1, 1987.
- (d) "Retirement" or "Retired" as the case may be and as such may be used in this article, when used in connection with the Retiring Allowance, shall mean cessation from the Board by a Teacher, for any reason whatsoever, including death and dismissal for just cause as the latter is found elsewhere in this agreement.
- (e) "Retirement Gratuity Plan" shall be defined as the Retirement Gratuity Plan as found and defined in Appendix "A" attached hereto.
- (f) "Retiring Allowance" shall be defined in accordance with Section 248(1) of the Income Tax Act (Canada) S.C. 1070-71-72, c.63, as further amended to the date of this agreement and as amended and in force during the currency of this agreement.
- (g) "Teachers" shall mean, as it is used in this article, Teachers employed by the Board during the currency of this agreement and statutory Teachers as defined by the Ontario English Catholic Teachers' Association (OECTA).
- (h) "Year of Service" or "Years of Service" as the case may be and as they may be used in this agreement, for the purposes of this article and the retiring allowance and payment eligibility thereunder, shall be defined as a complete teaching year of service running from September of one year to June of the next ensuing calendar year. Any year less than a complete teaching year of service, or fractional year, shall be accumulated with such other fractional years, as the case may be, in order to accumulate one complete teaching year of service for payment eligibility hereunder.

Further, any teacher who has previously retired from his or her employment and is subsequently engaged by the board for employment as a Teacher then, for the purposes of interpretation of clauses 5, 6 and 7 hereinafter, such Teacher's years of service shall be calculated to commence with the effective date of such Teacher's subsequent engagement for employment.

# 5. CALCULATION OF CURRENT TEACHERS' RETIRING ALLOWANCE

Subject to the provisions of clause 7 hereinafter stipulated, any current Teacher who has retired from his or her employment with the Board is entitled to a retiring allowance equal to the aggregate of:

- (a) Ten percent (10%) of such current Teacher's gross annualized salary for the first year of service with the Board by such current Teacher and;
- (b) Three percent (3%) of the sum of such current Teacher's gross annualized salary for every year of service with the Board by such current Teacher, after the first year of service, to a maximum of nine (9) years, or to the year ending immediately prior to September 1, 1987, whichever occurs first, and;
- (c) Three point three five percent (3.35%) of the sum of such current Teacher's gross annualized salary while in the employ of the Board, for every year of service commencing with the period September 1, 1987, of such employment, until retirement.

### 6. CALCULATION OF NEW TEACHERS' RETIRING ALLOWANCE

Subject to the provisions of clause 7 hereinafter stipulated, any new Teacher who has retired from his or her employment with the Board, is entitled to a retiring allowance equal to three point three five percent (3.35%) of such new Teacher's gross annualized salary while in the employ of the Board for every year of service until retirement.

# 7. RETIRING ALLOWANCE PAYABLE

(a)Entitlement Payable on Retirement

The Board's obligation to pay a retiring allowance to a new Teacher or current Teacher shall only arise on such Teacher's retirement. The amount of a current Teacher's or a new Teacher's entitlement to a retiring allowance as determined under clauses 5 and 6 herein, shall be determined as follows:

Complete Years of Service to Retirement	Percent of Retirement Allowance Payable on Retirement	Complete Years of Service to Retirement	Percent of Retiring Allowance Payable on Retirement
0 - 9	0%	13	70%
10	40%	14	80%
11	50%	15	90%
12	60%	16 or more years	100%

### (b) Payment on Retirement Only

Any payment of a retiring allowance to a new teacher or current teacher may only be made upon the retirement or such new teacher or current teacher. Any such payment of a retiring allowance shall be made on January 1 of the next ensuing calendar year after the retirement of such new teacher or current teacher from employment with the Board or at the option of the new or current teacher and with the consent of the Board, ninety (90) days following such retirement. In any event, failing the receipt of the written advice of the teacher as to the manner and to whom such retiring allowance shall be paid, the Board shall, on the ninety-first (91st) calendar day following such retirement, pay directly to the teacher the entire sum of such teacher's retiring allowance forthwith. In the event such ninety-first (91st) day does not fall on a banking day, then such full amount shall be paid on the first banking day immediately following the ninety-first (91st) day following the teacher's retirement.

### (c) Payment on Death

In the event of the death of a new teacher or of a current teacher, all such payments shall be made to the estate of such new teacher or current teacher and a duly executed receipt acknowledging payment of such sums made out by the executor, administrator or otherwise duly constituted personal representative of the estate of such new teacher or current teacher shall be effective to discharge the responsibilities and liabilities of the Board in that regard.

#### 8. CALCULATION OF YEARS OF SERVICE

In calculating any new teacher's or current teacher's years of service with the Board for the purposes of calculating such new teacher's or current teacher's eligibility for retiring allowance, the following shall not be counted as years of service:

- (a) Parental Leave: Any period of extended parental leave (such leave does not include the seventeen (17) weeks pregnancy leave);
- (b) Leave of Absence: Any years of leaves of absence;

- (c) Long-Term Disability: Any years during which a teacher has been in receipt of long-term disability benefits;
- (d) What May be Included in Calculation:

  Except that in the sole discretion of the teacher, the calculation of years of service for entitlement to payment of a retiring allowance shall continue uninterrupted, notwithstanding the above, on the election of the new teacher or current teacher, given in writing to the Board six (6) months prior to any such extended maternity leave or leave of absence, as follows:
  - 1. The year of service with respect to any extended parental leave or leave of absence, otherwise not counted but for an election, as above, is included in the years of service for purposes of clause 7, Appendix A 9; North Shore hereinbefore, but is established as having no salary in that year with respect to the calculations set out in clauses 5 or 6, Appendix A 9; North Shore.
  - 2. In calculating years of service of any new teacher or current teacher, sabbaticals or participation in the deferred salary leave plan shall be included in years of service for purposes of entitlement to payment of a retiring allowance as set out in clause 7 Appendix A 9; North Shore herein and the gross annualized salary, for purposes of the retiring allowance, calculated in the same manner as a new teacher's or current teacher's entitlement to benefits during participation in sabbatical leaves or in the deferred salary leave plan as defined in this agreement, including the "payback" provisions in connection with sabbatical leaves.
- (e) Limitations: Prior to the retirement of a teacher, no teacher shall have any claim as against the Board until such retirement for any payment of a retiring allowance as detailed in this Article.
- (f) No Continuing Employment Guaranty:

  This agreement does not provide any insurance to the teachers of continuing employment with the Board.
- (g) Agreement Subject to Income Tax Act (Canada): It is agreed and acknowledged by the parties hereto that this agreement is subject to any obligations imposed upon either party as a result of any amendments brought to the Income Tax Act (Canada), S.C. 1970-71-72 c. 63 as amended to date and as amended and in force during the currency of this agreement.

# 9. **LETTER OF INTENT**

It is hereby agreed and understood by the parties hereto that the letter of intent as such is set out as Appendix A and attached hereto forms a part of this agreement.

#### APPENDIX A RE: RETIREMENT GRATUITY

Pursuant to the provisions of the Official Agreement between the North Shore District

Roman Catholic Separate School Board and the teachers employed by the Board dated \_\_\_\_\_\_\_, 20 \_\_\_\_\_, and more particularly of Article 10 thereof the calculation, eligibility and definition of the Retirement Gratuity, whenever and to whomever such is payable shall be in accordance with the terms hereinafter outlined:

#### 1. Entitlement

Pursuant to the provisions of the Education Act, R.S.O. 1990, c.e. 2 as amended to date and in force throughout the currency of this agreement and pursuant to the contracts of guaranty executed by the Board and its predecessors to individual teachers as such contracts of guaranty are recorded with the Board, a teacher shall be eligible, upon retirement from the teaching profession, for the payment of a retirement gratuity after ten (10) years of continuous service with the Board and in the event such teacher is a current teacher as defined by Clause 4 of the aforesaid agreement, the said current teacher has not elected to participate in the retiring allowance plan provided for in the said Clause 4.

# 2. Entitlement to and Calculation of Retirement Gratuity

In accordance with the provisions of this agreement and more particularly the provisions of this appendix, a teacher who is otherwise entitled to a retirement gratuity shall be eligible for same upon having achieved ten (10) years of service with the Board. Upon being entitled for a retirement gratuity, the calculation of such retirement gratuity shall be as follows: ten percent (10%) of cumulative sick leave credits times one two hundredth (1/200th) of a teacher's annual salary at the date of such teacher's retirement from teaching and shall be in accordance with the following table:

```
11 years service: 12% x cumulative sick leave x 1/200th of annual salary.
12 years service: 14% x cumulative sick leave x 1/200th of annual salary.
13 years service: 16% x cumulative sick leave x 1/200th of annual salary.
14 years service: 18% x cumulative sick leave x 1/200th of annual salary.
15 years service: 20% x cumulative sick leave x 1/200th of annual salary.
16 years service: 22% x cumulative sick leave x 1/200th of annual salary.
17 years service: 24% x cumulative sick leave x 1/200th of annual salary.
18 years service: 26% x cumulative sick leave x 1/200th of annual salary.
19 years service: 28% x cumulative sick leave x 1/200th of annual salary.
20 years service: 30% x cumulative sick leave x 1/200th of annual salary.
21 years service: 32% x cumulative sick leave x 1/200th of annual salary.
22 years service: 34% x cumulative sick leave x 1/200th of annual salary.
23 years service: 36% x cumulative sick leave x 1/200th of annual salary.
24 years service: 38% x cumulative sick leave x 1/200th of annual salary.
25 years service: 40% x cumulative sick leave x 1/200th of annual salary.
26 years service: 42% x cumulative sick leave x 1/200th of annual salary.
27 years service: 44% x cumulative sick leave x 1/200th of annual salary.
28 years service: 46% x cumulative sick leave x 1/200th of annual salary.
29 years service: 48% x cumulative sick leave x 1/200th of annual salary.
30 years service: 50% x cumulative sick leave x 1/200th of annual salary.
```

It is understood that in addition to a ten (10) year continuous service requirement, a teacher must have sick leave credits standing to his or her credit as at the date of

retirement in order to be eligible for the payment of the gratuity. In the event there are no sick leave credits standing to the benefit of the teacher on the date of his or her retirement, no gratuity shall be paid to such teacher, regardless of such teacher having otherwise satisfied the years of service requirement therefore.

- 3. For the purposes of this section, sick leave credits shall be accumulated to a maximum of two hundred (200) days.
- 4. All benefits provided pursuant to Article X of the aforesaid agreement shall be paid in full on the date of retirement of the teacher or, at the option of such teacher and on notice in writing to the Board, on January 1 of the ensuing year.
- 5. Each teacher shall advise the Board in writing six (6) months prior to the date of retirement as to the timelines of the payment he or she desires.
- 6. In the event of the death of a teacher prior to his or her retirement, the sick leave gratuity accumulated by that teacher will be paid to the estate of the said teacher.

#### 10. Sault Ste. Marie

#### EARLY RETIREMENT INCENTIVE PLAN

- (a) The purpose of the early retirement incentive plan (hereinafter called ERIP) is to create a more equal balance between the number of junior and senior teachers by facilitating the hiring of younger teachers. It is understood by both parties that the ERIP is a cost-saving device for the Board and a benefit for the teachers. A condition of ERIP is that it shall not cost the Board any money in each of the years the incentive is paid.
- (b) The ERIP hereinafter outlined shall be available to teachers who meet the specified criteria for eligibility described in 10(c).
- (c) Criteria for Eligibility

In order to be eligible for the ERIP, the teacher shall:

- (i) Be eligible for an unreduced pension from the Teachers' Pension Plan Board or be 50 years of age or older at the official retirement date; and
- (ii) have ten years of continuous service with the Board, including leaves of absence; and
- (iii) be at a maximum salary level in the respective category placement; and
- (iv) not use the plan to avoid being declared redundant.
- 11. Subject to 10(c) above, a teacher shall receive an ERIP payment in accordance with:

- (a) <u>Recall List</u> (Replacement Teachers are hired from Recall List). During a period when there are teacher retirements and the hiring of teachers must come from the Recall List, the amount of money available for ERIP payments shall be the difference in the actual grid salaries at June 30/December 31 between the teachers participating in ERIP and the actual grid salaries of the teachers being hired from the Recall List.
- or (b) New Hires (Replacement Teachers do not come from Recall List). During a period when there are teacher retirements and there are new teachers hired, the amount of money available for ERIP payments shall be the difference in the actual grid salaries paid at June 30/December 31 between the teachers participating in the ERIP and Category A1, Level 2.
- or (c) No Hires (There are no Replacement Teachers). During a period when there are teacher retirements and there are no teachers hired, but there is a Recall List which is not implemented or there is no recall list, the amount of money available for ERIP payments shall be the difference in the actual grid salaries paid at June 30/December 31 between the teacher participating in the ERIP and Category A1, Level 2.
- or (d) Combination: Recall and New Hires (Replacement Teachers come from Recall List and at large). In cases when there are retirements and there are new teachers hired in addition to teachers being hired from the Recall List, the amount of money available for ERIP payments will be calculated by using the difference in the actual grid salaries at June 30/December 31 between the teachers participating in ERIP and the actual grid salaries of the teachers being recalled from the Recall List and the difference between the actual grid salaries of the teachers participating in the ERIP and Category A1, Level 2 for each new teacher hired.
- 12. Payments to teachers participating in the ERIP shall be determined as follows:

The units accorded to each teacher shall be according to the following chart and the payments shall be according to the formula outlined in Item 13.

 Age 50 or 85 factor to age 59
 - 4 units

 Age 60
 - 3 units

 Age 61
 - 2 units

 Age 62 - 64
 - 1 unit

The value of one unit shall not exceed five thousand dollars (\$5,000.00)

- 13. The following formula shall be used to determine payment of the ERIP for each participant: The lesser of:
  - i) the number of ERIP units Total amount of funds ERIP payment of the specific teacher X available to the ERIP = per specific

all participating teachers

#### (ii) \$5,000.00 per ERIP unit OR

- 14. For teachers who teach less than full-time, the incentive, as calculated above, shall be prorated in accordance with the percentage of teaching time in relation to the total teaching time available in the year of application.
- (a) Payment of the incentive shall be made on the first regular pay period in January in the 15. calendar year following the date of retirement or as mutually agreed by the teacher and the Board.
  - (b) Unless otherwise elected by the teacher, payment shall be made in one lump sum. In no case shall an incentive, where paid in separate installments, be paid in more installments that the number of years the teacher is removed from age 65.
- 16. The parties may alter the number of installment(s) from what is specified in the Early Retirement Incentive Plan Agreement provided the teacher gives the Board reasonable notice of such intent. Only one (1) alteration of payments shall be allowed.
- 17. The ERIP shall be operated as follows:
  - (a) For participation in the ERIP, the teacher's application must be received by the Director of Education by April 1<sup>st</sup> for separation by December 31<sup>st</sup> or by October 1<sup>st</sup> for separation by March 31<sup>st</sup>.
  - (b) By May 1<sup>st</sup>/November 1<sup>st</sup>, the Board shall inform each applicant regarding the status of his/her application and the amount of the incentive he/she would receive under the ERIP as of that date. This amount might vary if successful applicants withdraw from the plan before May 15<sup>th</sup> or November 25<sup>th</sup>. In such instances, the Board shall revise the amount of each incentive and inform each applicant as practicable.
  - (c) By May 15<sup>th</sup>/November 25<sup>th</sup>, the teacher must submit a letter to the Board stating his/her intent to participate in the ERIP. If the intent is to participate in the ERIP, the teacher must submit a letter of resignation at this time.
- The incentive of a teacher who dies during the payment period specified in his/her ERIP 18. Agreement (21) or amendments made thereto shall be paid to his/her estate.
- 19. A teacher who accepts an incentive shall do so on the form entitled "Early Retirement Incentive Plan Agreement."
- 20. Subject to continuing eligibility, a teacher who participates in the ERIP may participate in health and welfare benefits up to age 65, subject to the terms and conditions of the respective carriers of such plans, and provided the teacher reimburses the Board for full premium costs. A teacher shall indicate his/her intent to participate or not to participate in the health and welfare benefits at the time he/she applies for ERIP.

Early	<b>Retirement Incentive Plan Agreement</b>	
be		day of, 20 rict School Board, hereinafter called the ereinafter called the "Teacher."
(b) Th	his Agreement is made with respect to the	following:
(i)	•	early retirement, as provided for by a Letter d the Local Affiliate of OECTA, the legal
(ii	i) In respect of this Agreement, the Teache Board effective	cher agrees to retire from employment with
(ii	ii) The Board agrees to pay to the Teach \$ as a consequence of durate	er an early retirement incentive of on of service and performance rendered.
(iv		ll be paid in installment(s),  D, and continuing on the following
	Date	Amount
(v	This Agreement is subject to the Acts and Ontario.	d Regulations applicable in the Province of
	For the Board	_
	Teacher	_
	Witness	_
	, 20	_

Date

21.

# LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

#### **BETWEEN:**

#### THE HURON-SUPERIOR CATHOLIC DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

- and -

# ONTARIO CATHOLIC TEACHERS' ASSOCIATION

# RE: LEGISLATIVE AND REGULATORY INITIATIVES FOR EDUCATION SECTOR COLLECTIVE BARGAINING

- 1. The parties agree that in the event of legislative and regulatory changes, and other initiatives offered for collective bargaining outcomes in the education sector, to reconvene negotiations to make this agreement consistent with these initiatives.
- 2. The parties recognize that current discussions between the Minister of Education, School Board representatives and the Affiliates, has detailed improvements to salary, and elementary and secondary workload, in four-year collective agreements.
- 3. The parties agree that the detailed improvements facilitated by the forthcoming related regulations will complement, and in some cases may improve specific outcomes for this four-year collective agreement.
- 4. The parties intend that this four year agreement will fully qualify the Board and the local bargaining units for all initiatives offered through the forthcoming regulations.

# LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

#### BETWEEN:

THE HURON-SUPERIOR CATHOLIC DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

- and -

# ONTARIO CATHOLIC TEACHERS' ASSOCIATION

# RE: ASSAULT, HARRASSMENT AND SAFE SCHOOLS

The committee shall be established of equal representation from the parties to review Board policies with respect to Assault, Harassment and Safe Schools. The first meeting shall take place no later than December 1, 2008 with subsequent meetings to be scheduled on mutually agreeable dates.

Upon conclusion of the review, the committee shall make recommendations regarding amendments to Board policies with respect to Assault, Harassment and Safe Schools.

# LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

### BETWEEN:

#### THE HURON-SUPERIOR CATHOLIC DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

- and -

#### ONTARIO CATHOLIC TEACHERS' ASSOCIATION

# RE: PROVINCIAL DISCUSSION TABLE STAFFING PROVISIONS

The following issues arising out of the Provincial Discussion Table Agreement shall be referred to the Joint Staffing Committee (Article 24.01):

- (a) Class size reduction in Grade 4 8 in accordance with a new allocation in the Grants for Student Needs. The Board will hire the full complement of additional funded elementary teachers that result from the new allocation.
- (b) The assignment of staff generated by the increase in elementary teacher preparation time.
- (c) The expansion of secondary school programming (strategic class size reduction and increased course offerings) in accordance with a new allocation in the Grants for Student Needs. The Board will hire the full complement of additional funded secondary teachers that result from the new allocation. For 2008-2009, the hiring of additional teachers shall occur at the second semester.
- (d) The use of the funding enhancements aimed at promoting school safety through added supervision personnel.

# LETTER OF INTENT

BETWEEN:

THE HURON-SUPERIOR CATHOLIC DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

- and -

ONTARIO CATHOLIC TEACHERS' ASSOCIATION

# RE: GRADES 7 AND 8 STUDENT SUCCESS TEACHERS AND LITERACY & NUMERACY COACHES

In accordance with the terms of the Provincial Discussion Table (PDT) agreement, for the 2008-2012 collective agreement, the Huron-Superior Catholic District School Board and the Huron-Superior OECTA Bargaining Unit are committed to implementing "Grades 7 & 8 Student Success Teachers and Literacy & Numeracy Coaches". The program to be delivered and the assignment of teachers shall be determined jointly by the Joint System Staffing Allocation Committee, prior to the staffing process for 2012-2013.

# LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

#### BETWEEN:

THE HURON-SUPERIOR CATHOLIC DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

- and -

ONTARIO CATHOLIC TEACHERS' ASSOCIATION

# RE: EXPANSION OF KINDERGARTEN PROGRAM

The parties agree that every person who is employed to fulfill an instructional role (as defined by the Acts and Regulations) shall be qualified as a teacher and covered by this collective agreement. All teaching functions including but not limited to instruction, assessment and evaluation are the exclusive domain of teaching staff.

In keeping with the above, should legislation change, or in the event that the government moves to extend the Kindergarten Program, the parties shall meet to address all issues.

# LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

# BETWEEN:

# THE HURON-SUPERIOR CATHOLIC DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

- and -

# ONTARIO CATHOLIC TEACHERS' ASSOCIATION

# **RE: INSURANCE PLANS**

Conditional upon approval by the Lieutenant Governor-in-Council, the parties will meet by January 15, 2010 to determine the allocation of the Huron-Superior Catholic District School Board's share of the benefit enhancement funding in accordance with the Provincial Discussion Table Agreement.

The Board shall provide the information outlined in a letter from the Unit President in a timely manner.

# LETTER OF INTENT

#### BETWEEN:

# THE HURON-SUPERIOR CATHOLIC DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

- and -

#### ONTARIO CATHOLIC TEACHERS' ASSOCIATION

#### RE: SITE-BASED DAYS FOR ASSESSMENT, EVALUATION AND REPORT CARDS

The Board is committed, contingent upon funding, to provide Teachers at the elementary level with site-based release days for the purpose of assessment, evaluation and the completion of report cards, subject to mutual agreement between the Board and the Teacher and the availability of an Occasional Teacher.

Contingent on funding, for the 2008-2009 school year, the Board is committed to providing three (3) half (1/2) days, taken at the rate of (1/2) day per term.

Effective September 1, 2009, contingent on funding, the Board is committed to providing one (1) day for each reporting period that does not have a Professional Activity Day assigned for the purposes of assessment, evaluation and the completion of report cards.

The Joint Staffing Committee shall be consulted regarding the availability of these days on an annual basis.

73